
CITY OF LAWNDALE 
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California 90260 

Phone (310) 973-3200 – www.lawndalecity.org 

AGENDA 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Monday, August 2, 2021 - 6:30 p.m. 
Lawndale City Hall Council Chamber 

14717 Burin Avenue 

Any person who wishes to address the City Council regarding any item listed on this agenda or any other 
matter that is within its subject matter jurisdiction is invited, but not required, to fill out a Public Meeting 
Speaker Card and submit it to the City Clerk prior to the oral communications portion of the meeting.  The 
purpose of the card is to ensure that speakers' names are correctly recorded in the meeting minutes and, 
where appropriate, to provide contact information for later staff follow-up.  You are still eligible to submit 
comment via the Temporary eComment Policy for Public Meetings, the comments will be read verbatim 
into the record. 

How to observe the Meeting: 
To maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency and public access, members of the public can now observe the 
meeting in person, with limited capacity, while strictly adhering to the City Facilities Entry Protocols.  Members of the public 
are still be able to view the meeting on YouTube “Lawndale CityTV”, the City Website, or Lawndale Community Cable 
Television on Spectrum & Frontier Channel 3. 

Copies of this Agenda may be obtained prior to the meeting in the Lawndale City Hall foyer.  Copies of this Agenda packet may 
be obtained prior to the meeting outside of the Lawndale City Hall foyer or on the City Website.  Interested parties may contact 
the City Clerk Department at (310) 973-3213 for clarification regarding individual agenda items. 

This Agenda is subject to revision up to 72 hours before the meeting. 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

B. CEREMONIALS (Flag Salute and Inspiration)

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT

D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (Public Comments)

E. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL

F. CONSENT CALENDAR

Items 1 through 5, will be considered and acted upon under one motion unless a City Councilmember 
removes individual items for further City Council consideration or explanation.

1. Approval of Final Tract Map No. 82706
Recommendation: that the City Council approve the Final Tract Map No. 82706. 

https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/City%20Council/All%20Speaker%20Card%20(Rev.%2002-20).pdf
https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/City%20Council/All%20Speaker%20Card%20(Rev.%2002-20).pdf
https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/Departments/City%20Clerk's%20Office/Agendas%20and%20Minutes/City%20of%20Lawndale%20-%20eComment%20Policy.pdf
https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/COVID-19/COVID-19%20%20Reopening202105_Final.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfzabQru02YprD2xs5FC2Ow
http://192.168.10.14/CablecastPublicSite/watch/1?channel=3
https://www.lawndalecity.org/cms/one.aspx?pageId=17106541


Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
August 2, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 

2. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to Accept Local Return Funds and CARES  
ACT Funding for the Lawndale Beat Fixed-Route Transportation System 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) approve the attached Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation 
Authority to accept $49,955.00 of Proposition A local return funds and CARES Act 
funding and (b) authorize the Mayor or City Manager to execute the MOU on behalf of 
the City.  

 
3. Consideration of Claim Against the City 

Recommendation: that the City Council reject the claims filed by Alfredo Ortega and 
Gloria Garay, and instruct staff to process the appropriate correspondence to the 
claimants. 

 
4. Accounts Payable Register 

Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2108-031, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $791,717.04. 

 
5. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – July 19, 2021 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 

G. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
6. Adoption of New Facility Use Fee for Recreation Class Instructors 

Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2108-033 approving 
the fee of $25.00 per hour for recreation class instructors use of any City facility for City-
advertised and promoted classes to be held on City property. 

 
H. ADMINISTRATION 

 
7. Agreement with All City Management Services Inc. for School Crossing Guard  

Services  
Recommendation: that the City Council approve a contract service agreement with All 
City Management Services, Inc. for a term of two years, not to exceed $244,998.00. 

 
8. Award of Contract for Construction and Construction Inspection Services for the   

FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) award the construction contract to Sequel 
Contractors Inc., in the amount of $973,400.00 for the FY 2020-21 Annual Street 
Improvements Project; (b) award the construction inspection services to SA & Associates 
in the amount of $78,000.00 for the FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project; 
and (c) approve the construction contingency of $146,010.00 for FY 2020-21 Annual 
Street Improvements Project. 
 

I. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 
  



Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
August 2, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

 

J. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

9. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 
K. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be held at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, 
August 16, 2021 in the Lawndale City Hall council chamber, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, 
California. 

 
It is the intention of the City of Lawndale to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in 
all respects.  If, as an attendee or a participant at this meeting, you will need special assistance beyond 
what is normally provided, we will attempt to accommodate you in every reasonable manner.  Please 
contact the City Clerk Department (310) 973-3213 prior to the meeting to inform us of your particular 
needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible.  Please advise us at that time if you will need 
accommodations to attend or participate in meetings on a regular basis. 
 

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the Agenda 
for the regular meeting of the City Council to be held on August 2, 2021 was posted not less than 
72 hours prior to the meeting. 

 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Matthew Ceballos, Assistant City Clerk 



1







2

















3















4











MINUTES OF THE 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

    July 19, 2021 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Mayor Pullen-Miles called the meeting to order at 6:33 p.m. in the City Hall council chamber,
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California.

Councilmembers Present:  Mayor Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor Pro Tem Pat Kearney,
Councilmember Bernadette Suarez, Councilmember Rhonda 
Hofmann Gorman, Councilmember Sirley Cuevas   

Other Participants: City Manager Kevin M. Chun, City Attorney Gregory M. Murphy, 
Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department Captain Duane Allen, 
Community Services Director Mike Estes, Assistant to the City 
Manager/Human Resources Director Raylette Felton, Municipal 
Services Director Michael Reyes, Community Development 
Director Sean Moore, Assistant City Clerk Matthew Ceballos, 
Public Works Director Julian Lee 

B. CEREMONIALS

Councilmember Bernadette Suarez led the flag salute and Pastor Maximillian Youell and Korra
Hightower, Restoration Life Church, provided the inspiration.

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT

Captain Duane Allen summarized the recent law enforcement activities, with an emphasis on
fireworks suppression during the July 4th holiday.

D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Rod Corprue, City Employee, spoke about a hostile work environment with City staff and a
pending civil suit.

Randall Abram, Resident, spoke about the citations and reports to Los Angeles County Sheriff's
Department from the illegal suppression plan.

Pam London, Resident, spoke about the parkway policy. Ms. London also briefly spoke about an
anonymous letter she received, the leave of the Finance Director and illegal fireworks.

Johnny London, Resident, spoke about an anonymous letter sent to his wife and moving away
from the City.

E. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL

The City Council responded generally to the comments.

5



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
July 19, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
F. CONSENT CALENDAR  

 
1. Ricoh Copiers One (1) Year Lease Agreement (Extension) 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve a one (1) year Lease Agreement with 
Ricoh USA, Inc. for five (5) leased copiers/printers, for an amount not to exceed 
$18,149.76. 
 

2. Accounts Payable Register 
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2107-030, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $3,766,257.85 

 
3. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – June 21, 2021 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 

4. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Special Meeting – June 28, 2021 
Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 
Councilmember Cuevas inquired on item number 1, if staff researched for a lower cost to 
lease the copiers/printers. Assistant City Clerk Matthew Ceballos responded that the price 
was reduced, for a 1 year extension, and the contract will later go for a Request for 
Proposal process for the best price and service to the City.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Kearney inquired on the cost of graffiti supplies in the accounts payable 
register and its purpose and about two vehicle batteries.  
 
Public Works Director Julian Lee responded that graffiti has increased since January with 
a total of 550 new locations to respond to and the batteries are for a heavy utility truck. 
Mayor Pro Tem inquired if the City is recovering the graffiti cost from the property 
owners. Public Works Director Lee responded that some property owners supplied the 
have paint color of their property but the labor has been done by City staff. 

 
A motion by Councilmember Cuevas to approve the consent calendar was seconded by 
Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and carried by a vote of 5-0. 
 

G. ADMINISTRATION 
 
5. Revision to Personnel Summary for Fiscal Year 2021-22 Budget 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve the change in the Personnel Summary 
by Program and Personnel Summary by Division for the 0.48 Full Time Equivalent 
(FTEs) for the Office Assistant in Public Works Administration.  

 
A motion by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney to approve the change in the Personnel Summary 
by Program and Personnel Summary by Division for the 0.48 Full Time Equivalent (FTEs) 
for the Office Assistant in Public Works Administration, was seconded by Councilmember 
Cuevas and carried by a vote of 5-0. 

  



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
July 19, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

6. 2021 League of California Cities – Annual Conference 
Recommendation: that the City Council select a delegate and an alternate to represent the 
City at the 2021 League of California Cities Annual Conference. 
 

City Council reached a unanimous consensus to designate Councilmember Cuevas as the voting 
delegate and Mayor Pro Tem Kearney as the alternate delegate. 
 
A motion by Councilmember Suarez to approve the designation of Councilmember Cuevas 
as delegate and Mayor Pro Tem Kearney as the alternate to represent the city at the League 
of California Cities Annual Conference was seconded by Councilmember Hofmann 
Gorman and carried by a vote of 5-0. 

 
H. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 

 
City Manager Kevin Chun spoke about the illegal fireworks suppression plan and noted the 32 
citations issued and the improved illegal fireworks situation over the 4th of July holiday. City 
Manager Chun announced he would will debrief with Sherriff Deputies to see what went well 
and suggest improvements for next year to make the program more successful. City Manager 
Chun commended and thanked all staff and Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department for the 
hard work on the fireworks suppression plan. 
 

I. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

7. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 
Councilmember Suarez attended a virtual meeting with the South Bay Cities Council of 
Government Steering Committee and commended the outgoing chairperson Mayor Pro Tem 
Olivia Valentine from the City of Hawthorne and welcomed new chairperson Mayor Drew 
Boyles from the City of El Segundo. 
 
Councilmember Cuevas recommended the owners of the fireworks stand subsidize the cost of 
the illegal fireworks suppression plan and requested a report which tracks the repeated graffiti 
areas. City Manager Kevin Chun responded staff will explore the idea next year to reach out to 
the companies of the fireworks stand to supplement the plan and that a report of the graffiti 
locations can be generated. 
 
A dialogue lengthy ensued between the Council and staff regarding graffiti citations, upfront cost 
to the property owner for graffiti removal, and code enforcement policy recommendations for 
commercial and residential property. 
 
Councilmember Hofmann Gorman attended the meeting with Metro and spoke of the harm 
fireworks cause and recommended various items to enhance the suppression of illegal fireworks.  
  
Mayor Pro Tem Kearney attended the Sherriff’s Liability Trust and Oversight Committee and 
commented on Councilmember Hoffman Gorman’s recommendations on added illegal fireworks 
measures.  
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles attended a joint special meeting with the L.A. County Sanitation Districts. 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
July 19, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 
J. CLOSED SESSION 

 
At 7:29 p.m. the City Council entered into Closed Session. 
 
8. Conference with Labor Negotiator 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54957.6, with the city manager, the city attorney and the City's negotiators, regarding 
labor negotiations with Local 1895, Council 36, American Federation of State, County 
and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, representing the City's mid-management and 
classified employees. 
  

At 8:10 p.m. the City Council entered back into open session. 
 
City Attorney Gregory M. Murphy reported that the City Council met in Closed Session to 
discuss the item listed on the Closed Session agenda. The City Council was updated on the 
item and there was no reportable action taken. 

 
K. ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business to conduct, the Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8:12 p.m. in memory of 
Shirley Bennett, Lawndale Elementary School Board Member, and Councilmember Hofmann Gorman 
shared a few words in Ms. Bennett’s memory. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Erica Harbison, City Clerk 
 
Approved: 08/02/2021 

 



6

















Legal No.  

Daily Breeze
400 Continental Blvd, Suite 600
El Segundo, CA 90245
310-543-6635
Fax: 310-316-6827

I am a citizen of the United States and a resident of the 
County aforesaid; I am over the age of eighteen years, and 
not a party to or interested in the above-entitled matter.  I 
am the principal clerk of the printer of THE DAILY 
BREEZE, a newspaper of general circulation, printed and 
published in the City of Torrance*, County of Los Angeles, 
and which newspaper has been adjudged a newspaper of 
general circulation by the Superior Court of County of Los 
Angeles, State of California, under the date of June 10, 
1974, Case Number SWC7146.  The notice, of which the 
annexed is a printed copy (set in type not smaller than 
nonpareil), has been published in each regular and entire 
issue of said newspaper and not in any supplement 
thereof on the following dates, to wit:

07/22/2021, 07/28/2021

I certify (or declare) under the penalty of perjury that the 
foregoing is true and correct.

Dated at Torrance, California
On this 28th day of July, 2021.

(Space below for use of County Clerk Only)

PROOF OF PUBLICATION
(2015.5 C.C.P.)

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
County of Los Angeles

*The Daily Breeze circulation includes the following cities: Carson, Compton, 

Culver City, El Segundo, Gardena, Harbor City, Hawthorne, Hermosa Beach, 

Inglewood, Lawndale, Lomita, Long Beach, Manhattan Beach, Palos Verdes 

Peninsula, Palos Verdes, Rancho Palos Verdes, Rancho Palos Verdes Estates, 

Redondo Beach, San Pedro, Santa Monica, Torrance and Wilmington.

Signature

00114761905052005

CITY OF LAWNDALE/COMMUNITY SERVICE 
DEPARTMENT
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
14717 BURIN AVENUE
LAWNDALE, CA  90260

r.LP6-12/01/15 1



7









































8







City Council Meeting – August 2, 2021 
Award of Construction Contract for Construction and Construction Inspection Services for the FY 
2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council: 
 

1. Award the construction contract to Sequel Contractors Inc., in the amount of $973,400.00 for the 
FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project;  

2. Award the construction inspection services to SA & Associates in the amount of $78,000.00 for 
the FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project; and  

3. Approve the construction contingency of $146,010.00 for FY 2020-21 Annual Street 
Improvements Project. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project Location Map  
2. FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project Construction Bid Opening Log 
3. FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project – Public Works Agreement 
4. FY 2020-21 Annual Street Improvements Project – Inspection Services Profession Services 

Agreement 
 







01001.0006/657316.1  

AGREEMENT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ____ day of ____, 202__ by and between the 
CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA, hereinafter referred to as the "City," and 
_______________________________________________________hereinafter referred to as the 
"Contractor." 
 
WITNESSETH:  That the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE I:  For and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter mentioned to be 
made and performed by said City, said Contractor agrees with said City to construct the work under 
the City's specification entitled “FY 2020/21 ANNUAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT, 
PROJECT NUMBER 2021-7 & 2021-8” and to perform and complete in a good and workmanlike 
manner all the work pertaining thereto shown on the drawings and described in the specifications 
herein, to furnish at his own proper cost and expense all tools, equipment, labor, and materials 
necessary therefor, except such material and equipment as in said specifications as expressly 
stipulated to be furnished by said City, and to do everything required by this Agreement and the said 
specifications and plans. 
 
ARTICLE II:  For furnishing all said materials and labor, furnishing and removing all plant, 
temporary works or structures, tools and equipment and doing all the work contemplated and 
embraced in this Agreement, also for all loss and damage arising out of the nature of the work 
aforesaid, or from the action of the elements, or from any unforeseen difficulties which may arise 
from or be encountered in the prosecution of the work until its acceptance by said City, and for all 
risks of every description connected with the work; also for all expenses incurred by or in 
consequence of the suspension or discontinuance of work, except such as in the said specifications 
are expressly stipulated to be borne by said City, and for well and faithfully completing the work the 
whole thereof, in the manner shown and described in said drawings and specifications and in 
accordance with the requirements of the Engineer, said City will pay and said Contractor shall receive 
in full compensation therefor the prices named in the Bidding Schedule of the Bid hereto attached. 
 
ARTICLE III:  City agrees to pay and Contractor agrees to accept in full payment for this Work or 
Improvement the stipulated sum of _Nine Hundred Seventy-Three Thousand Four Hundred_ Dollars 
($973,400.00). 
 
City agrees to make monthly payments and final payment in accordance with the method set forth in 
the Specifications. 
 
ARTICLE IV:  All work to be done under this contract shall be completed within Ninety (90) 
calendar days, exclusive of maintenance periods, beginning on the date stipulated in the written 
Notice to Proceed issued by the Engineer.  Any changes in time and/or price are to be submitted to 
the City Engineer, in writing, within _5_ days of the occurrence giving rise to the request and shall 
request a formal decision from the City within _15_ days and shall include data supporting the request. 
 
ARTICLE V:  Time is of the essence with respect to the performance by Contractor of its duties.  
Failure of the Contractor to complete the work within the time allowed will result in damages being 
sustained by the City.  Such damages are, and will continue to be, impracticable and extremely 
difficult to determine.  For each consecutive calendar day, or portion thereof, in excess of the time 



01001.0006/657316.1  

specified for completion of the work (as adjusted), the Contractor shall pay to the City, or the City 
may deduct from any payments due or to become due to Contractor, the sum of $1,000.00 per day.  
 
Execution of this Agreement shall constitute agreement by the City and the Contractor that the 
specified liquidated damages per day is the minimum value of the costs and actual damage caused by 
the failure of the Contractor to complete the work within the allotted time, that such sum is liquidated 
damages and shall not be construed as a penalty, and that such sum may be deducted from payments 
due the Contractor if such delay occurs. 
 
ARTICLE VI:  The City hereby promises and agrees with said Contractor to employ, and does 
hereby employ, said Contractor to provide the materials and to do the work according to the terms 
and conditions herein contained and referred to for the price aforesaid, and hereby contracts to pay 
for the same, at the time, in the manner, and upon the conditions set forth in said specifications; and 
the said parties for themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, do 
hereby agree to the full performance of the covenants herein contained. 
 
ARTICLE VII:  The Notice Inviting Sealed Bids, the Instructions to Bidders, the Bid, the 
Specifications, and the Drawings mentioned therein, all addenda issued prior to the opening of the 
bid by the City, all contract change orders issued after execution of the Contract Agreement, the 
Special Provisions, Non-Collusion Declaration, Faithful Performance Bond, Payment Bond, all of 
which are essential parts of this contract, are hereby incorporated in and made part of this Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE VIII:  Contractor acknowledges and agrees that he and any subcontractor under him must 
comply with the provisions of the State Labor Code requiring every employer to pay at least the 
minimum prevailing rate of per diem wages for each craft, classification, or type of workman needed 
to execute this contract. State general prevailing wage determination as established by the California 
Department of Industrial Relations (available at http://www.dir.ca.gov/DLSR/PWD/index.htm).  The 
statutory provisions for penalties for failure to pay prevailing wages and/or failure to otherwise 
comply with state's wage and hour laws will be enforced. 
 
The applicable prevailing rate of per diem wages are on file at the City of Lawndale Department of 
Public Works, 4722 Manhattan Beach Boulevard, Lawndale, California 90266, and are available to 
any interested party on request.  The Contractor is required to post at the job site the prevailing rate 
of per diem wages and other notices prescribed by regulation.   

 
ARTICLE IX:  The Contractor shall supply the City with certificates of insurance for the types and 
amounts of insurance required for this project as described in the Instructions to Bidders for this 
project.  Said certificates must comply with all requirements for sufficient insurance as described in 
the Instructions to Bidders.  
 
ARTICLE X:  The Contractor hereby agrees that the Contactor and any subcontractor under him 
submit weekly to the DIR directly and provide copy to City, certified copies of the payroll records 
for all said workers and shall comply with all statutory requirements relating to certified copies of 
payroll records, including the maintenance of the records, their certification, and their availability for 
inspection as required by Labor Code Section 1776 and as required under Subsection 7-2.6 of said  
Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction.  In addition, the Contractor and any 
subcontractors must furnish electronic certified payroll records directly to the Labor Commissioner (aka 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement) in a format prescribed by the Labor Commissioner no less 
than monthly as follows: 

http://www.dir.ca.gov/DLSR/PWD/index.htm


01001.0006/657316.1  

These new requirements will apply to all public works projects that are subject to the prevailing 
wage requirements of the Labor Code without regard to funding source. 

ARTICLE XI:  Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1725.5, Contractor and any subcontractor must be 
registered with the California Department of Industrial Relations prior to performing any work under 
this Agreement. Further, this project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the 
Department of Industrial Relations. 

ARTICLE XII:  Contractor shall indemnify, defend with legal counsel approved by City, and hold 
harmless City, its officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers from and against all liability, 
loss, damage, expense, cost (including without limitation reasonable legal counsel fees, expert witness 
fees and all other costs and fees of litigation) of every nature arising out of or in connection with 
Contractor's negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct in the performance of work hereunder or 
its failure to comply with any of its obligations contained in this Agreement, except such loss or 
damage which is caused by the sole or active negligence or willful misconduct of the City. Should 
conflict of interest principles preclude a single legal counsel from representing both City and 
Contractor, or should City otherwise find Contractor’s legal counsel unacceptable, then Contractor 
shall reimburse the City its costs of defense, including without limitation reasonable legal counsels 
fees, expert fees and all other costs and fees of litigation. The Contractor shall promptly pay any final 
judgment rendered against the City (and its officers, officials, employees and volunteers) with respect 
to claims determined by a trier of fact to have been the result of the Contractor’s negligent, reckless 
or wrongful performance. It is expressly understood and agreed that the foregoing provisions are 
intended to be as broad and inclusive as is permitted by the law of the State of California and will 
survive termination of this Agreement.  

 
Contractor obligations under this section apply regardless of whether or not such claim, charge, 
damage, demand, action, proceeding, loss, stop notice, cost, expense, judgment, civil fine or penalty, 
or liability was caused in part or contributed to by an Indemnitee. However, without affecting the 
rights of City under any provision of this Agreement, Contractor shall not be required to indemnify 
and hold harmless City for liability attributable to the active negligence of City, provided such active 
negligence is determined by agreement between the parties or by the findings of a court of competent 
jurisdiction. In instances where City is shown to have been actively negligent and where City’s active 
negligence accounts for only a percentage of the liability involved, the obligation of Contractor will 
be for that entire portion or percentage of liability not attributable to the active negligence of City. 
 
ARTICLE XIII:  Contractor’s services are being provided to the City as that of an independent 
contractor.  Contractor represents and warrants that the personnel used to provide services to the City 
pursuant to this Agreement are classified by Contractor as employees.  In the event that Contractor or 
any employee, agent, or subcontractor of Contractor providing services under this Agreement claims 
or is determined by a federal or state agency, a court of competent jurisdiction, or the California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) to be classified as other than an independent 
contractor for the City, then Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City for the 
payment of any and all assessed fines, penalties, judgments, employee and/or employer contributions, 
and any other damages and costs assessed to the City as a consequence of, or in any way attributable 
to, the assertion that Contractor or any persons Contractor used to provide services under this 
Agreement are employees of the City. 
 
ARTICLE XIV:  The City, in accordance with Public Contract Code Section 22300, shall permit the 
substitution of securities for any moneys withheld by the City to secure performance under a contract.  



01001.0006/657316.1  

The City hereby incorporates herein all of the provisions set forth in Public Contract Code Section 
22300. 
 
ARTICLE XV:  In the performance of this agreement, the Contractor shall not engage in, nor permit 
others he may hire to engage in, discrimination in the employment of persons because of their race, 
religious creed, color, or national origin, except as provided in Government Code Section 12940.  
Violation of this provision may result in the imposition of penalties as provided in Labor Code Section 
1735. 
 
ARTICLE XVI:  The improvements contemplated in the performance of this contract are a federal-
aid improvement over which the State of California shall exercise general supervision; the State of 
California, therefore, shall have the right to assume full and direct control over this contract whenever 
the State of California, at its sole discretion, shall determine that its responsibility to the United States 
so requires. In connection with the work to be provided pursuant to this Agreement, the Contractor 
and its subcontractors shall comply with the requirements in Exhibit A, the federal non-discrimination 
statutes. [FEDERALLY FUNDED PROJECTS ONLY] 
 
ARTICLE XVII:  The Contractor shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, 
property, and financial records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the contract 
and such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to assure proper accounting for all 
project funds, both federal and non-federal shares.  These records will be made available for audit 
purposes to the City or any authorized representative and will be retained for 3 years after the 
expiration of this contract, unless permission to destroy them is granted by the City. 
 
ARTICLE XVIII:  No officer or employee of the City shall have any financial interest in this 
Agreement nor shall any such officer or employee participate in any decision relating to the 
Agreement which affects his financial interest or the financial interest of any corporation, partnership 
or association in which he is interested, in violation of any State statute or regulation.  Similarly, 
Contractor warrants that it has not paid or given and will not pay or give any third party any money 
or other consideration for obtaining this Agreement.   
 
ARTICLE XIX:  The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto warrant that 
(i) such party is duly organized and existing, (ii) they are duly authorized to execute and deliver this 
Agreement on behalf of said party, (iii) by so executing this Agreement, such party is formally bound 
to the provisions of this Agreement, and (iv) the entering into this Agreement does not violate any 
provision of any other Agreement to which said party is bound. 

ARTICLE XX:  Legal actions concerning any dispute, claim or matter arising out of or in relation 
to this Agreement shall be instituted in the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, State of 
California, or any other appropriate court in such county, and Contractor agrees to submit to the 
personal jurisdiction of such court in the event of such action. 
 
  



01001.0006/657316.1  

 
CITY: CITY OF LAWNDALE, 
CALIFORNIA 

 
Dated ________________, 20__ By:    

 MAYOR 
 

ATTEST: 
 
   
 CITY CLERK 
Approved as to form: 
 
_______________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
Dated ________________, 20__  
 CONTRACTOR: ___________________ 

 
By:   
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

 
  

TITLE 
 
By:   
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

 
  

TITLE 
 

(Attach acknowledgment for each Authorized 
Representative of Contractor.) 

 
 Address:   
   
 Phone:   
 Fax:   
 Email:   
  



01001.0006/657316.1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA   ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 
 
On ___________________, 2020 before me, __________________________________, a notary 
public, personally appeared ________________________________________ who proved to me 
on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the 
within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s) or the 
entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
_________________________________________ 
Notary Public 
 
 
SEAL: 

 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy or validity of 

that document. 



01001.0006/657316.1  

 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA   ) 
     ) ss. 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 
 
On ___________________, 2020 before me, __________________________________, a 
notary public, personally appeared ________________________________________ who 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same 
in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument 
the person(s) or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
_________________________________________ 
Notary Public 
 
 
SEAL: 
 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy or validity of 

that document. 



LA #4829-0061-8211  v2  .1  

CITY OF LAWNDALE 

CONTRACT SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR 

CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION SERVICES 

FOR FY 2020/21 ANNUAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

This Contract Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ____ day of 
__________, 20__, by and between the City of Lawndale, a municipal corporation (“City”), and _SA & 
Associates_ (“Contractor”).  The term Contractor includes professionals performing in a consulting 
capacity.  The parties hereto agree as follows: 

1.0 SERVICES OF CONTRACTOR 

1.1 Scope of Services.  In compliance with all terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
Contractor shall provide the work and services specified in the “Scope of Services” attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference.  Contractor warrants that all work or services set 
forth in the Scope of Services will be performed in a competent, professional and satisfactory manner. 

1.2 Contractor’s Proposal.  The Scope of Services shall include the Contractor’s proposal or 
bid which shall be incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein.  In the event of 
any inconsistency between the terms of such proposal and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement 
shall govern. 

1.3 Compliance with Law.  All work and services rendered hereunder shall be provided in 
accordance with all ordinances, resolutions, statutes, rules, and regulations of the City and any Federal, 
State or local governmental agency having jurisdiction. 

1.4 Licenses, Permits, Fees and Assessments.  Contractor shall obtain at its sole cost and 
expense, such licenses, permits and approvals as may be required by law for the performance of the 
services required by this Agreement.  Contractor shall have the sole obligation to pay for any fees, 
assessments, taxes, including applicable penalties and interest, which may be imposed by law and arise 
from or are necessary for the Contractor’s performance of the services required by this Agreement; and 
shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless City against any claim for such fees, assessments, taxes, 
penalties or interest levied, assessed or imposed against City hereunder. 

1.5 Familiarity with Work.  By executing this Agreement, Contractor warrants that 
Contractor (a) has thoroughly investigated and considered the scope of services to be performed, (b) has 
carefully considered how the work and services should be performed, and (c) fully understands the 
facilities, difficulties and restrictions attending performance of the services under this Agreement.   

1.6 Additional Services.  City shall have the right at any time during the performance of the 
services, without invalidating this Agreement, to order extra work beyond that specified in the Scope of 
Services or make changes by altering, adding to or deducting from said work.  No such extra work may 
be undertaken unless a written order is first given by the Contract Officer to the Contractor, incorporating 
therein any adjustment in (i) the Contract Sum, and/or (ii) the time to perform this Agreement, which 
said adjustments are subject to the written approval of the Contractor.  Any increase in compensation 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           2 

must be approved by the City Council.  It is expressly understood by Contractor that the provisions of 
this Section shall not apply to services specifically set forth in the Scope of Services or reasonably 
contemplated therein.  Contractor hereby acknowledges that it accepts the risk that the services to be 
provided pursuant to the Scope of Services may be more costly or time consuming than Contractor 
anticipates and that Contractor shall not be entitled to additional compensation therefor. 

1.7 Special Requirements.  Additional terms and conditions of this Agreement, if any, which 
are made a part hereof are set forth in the “Special Requirements” attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and 
incorporated herein by this reference.  In the event of a conflict between the provisions of Exhibit “B” 
and any other provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit “B” shall govern. 

1.8 Environmental Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable environmental laws, 
ordinances, codes and regulations of Federal, State, and local governments.  Contractor shall also comply 
with all applicable mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency. 

2.0 COMPENSATION 

2.1 Contract Sum.  For the services rendered pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor shall be 
compensated in accordance with the “Schedule of Compensation” attached hereto as Exhibit “C” and 
incorporated herein by this reference, but not exceeding the maximum contract amount of Seventy-Eight 
Thousand dollars ($78,000.00) (“Contract Sum”), except as provided in Section 1.6.  The method of 
compensation may include: (i) a lump sum payment upon completion, (ii) payment in accordance with 
the percentage of completion of the services, (iii) payment for time and materials based upon the 
Contractor’s rates as specified in the Schedule of Compensation, but not exceeding the Contract Sum or 
(iv) such other methods as may be specified in the Schedule of Compensation.  Compensation may 
include reimbursement for actual and necessary expenditures approved by the Contract Officer in 
advance if specified in the Schedule of Compensation.  The Contract Sum shall include the attendance 
of Contractor at all project meetings reasonably deemed necessary by the City. 

Contractor agrees that if Contractor becomes aware of any facts, circumstances, techniques, or 
events that may or will materially increase or decrease the cost of the work or services or, if Contractor 
is providing design services, the cost of the project being designed, Contractor shall promptly notify the 
Contract Officer of said fact, circumstance, technique or event and the estimated increased or decreased 
cost related thereto and, if Contractor is providing design services, the estimated increased or decreased 
cost estimate for the project being designed. 

2.2 Method of Payment.  Unless some other method of payment is specified in the Schedule 
of Compensation, in any month in which Contractor wishes to receive payment, no later than the first 
(1st) working day of such month, Contractor shall submit to the City, in a form approved by the City’s 
Director of Finance, an invoice for services rendered prior to the date of the invoice.  Except as provided 
in Section 7.2, City shall pay Contractor for all expenses stated thereon which are approved by City 
pursuant to this Agreement generally within thirty (30) days, and no later than forty-five (45) days, from 
the submission of an invoice in an approved form.  City will review each invoice submitted by Contractor 
to determine whether the work performed and expenses incurred are in compliance with this Agreement.  
If no charges or expenses are disputed, the invoice will be approved and paid.  In the event any charges 
or expenses are disputed by City, the invoice will be returned by City to Contractor for correction and 
resubmission.  City reserves the right to withhold future payment to Contractor if any aspect of the 
Contractor’s work is found substantially inadequate.   



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           3 

2.3 Availability of Funds.  It is mutually understood between the parties that this Agreement 
is valid and enforceable only if sufficient funds are made available by the City Council of the City for 
the purposes of this Agreement.  The availability of funding is affected by matters outside the City’s 
control, including other governmental entities.  Accordingly, the City has the option to void the whole 
Agreement or to amend the Agreement to reflect unanticipated reduction in funding for any reason. 

3.0 PERFORMANCE SCHEDULE 

3.1 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence in the performance of this Agreement. 

3.2 Schedule of Performance.  Contractor shall commence the services pursuant to this 
Agreement upon receipt of a written notice to proceed and shall perform all services within the time 
period(s) established in the “Schedule of Performance” attached hereto as Exhibit “D”, if any, and 
incorporated herein by this reference.   

3.3 Force Majeure.  The time period(s) specified in the Schedule of Performance for 
performance of the services rendered pursuant to this Agreement shall be extended because of any delays 
due to unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor, 
including, but not restricted to, acts of God or of the public enemy, unusually severe weather, fires, 
earthquakes, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, riots, strikes, freight embargoes, wars, litigation, 
and/or acts of any governmental agency, including the City, if the Contractor shall, within ten (10) days 
of the commencement of such delay, notify the Contract Officer in writing of the causes of the delay.  
The Contract Officer shall ascertain the facts and the extent of delay and extend the time for performing 
the services for the period of the enforced delay when and if, in the judgment of the Contract Officer, 
such delay is justified.  The Contract Officer’s determination shall be final and conclusive upon the 
parties to this Agreement.  In no event shall Contractor be entitled to recover damages against the City 
for any delay in the performance of this Agreement, however caused; Contractor’s sole remedy being 
extension of the Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

3.4 Term.  Unless earlier terminated in accordance with Section 7.4 below, this Agreement 
shall continue in full force and effect until completion of the services no later than June 30, 2022. 

4.0 COORDINATION OF WORK 

4.1 Representative of Contractor.  Mr. Shahnawaz Ahmad, President is hereby designated as 
being the representative of Contractor authorized to act on its behalf with respect to the work or services 
specified herein and to make all decisions in connection therewith. 

It is expressly understood that the experience, knowledge, capability and reputation of the 
representative was a substantial inducement for City to enter into this Agreement.  Therefore, the 
representative shall be responsible during the term of this Agreement for directing all activities of 
Contractor and devoting sufficient time to personally supervise the services hereunder.  For purposes of 
this Agreement, the representative may not be replaced nor may his responsibilities be substantially 
reduced by Contractor without the express written approval of City. 

4.2 Contract Officer.  The City’s City Manager is hereby designated as the representative of 
the City authorized to act in its behalf with respect to the work and services and to make all decisions in 
connection therewith (“Contract Officer”).  It shall be the Contractor’s responsibility to assure that the 
Contract Officer is kept informed of the progress of the performance of the services and the Contractor 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           4 

shall refer any decisions which must be made by City to the Contract Officer.  The City may designate 
another Contract Officer by providing written notice to Contractor. 

4.3 Prohibition Against Subcontracting or Assignment.  The experience, knowledge, 
capability and reputation of Contractor, its principals and employees were a substantial inducement for 
the City to enter into this Agreement.  Therefore, Contractor shall not contract with any other entity to 
perform in whole or in part the services required hereunder without the express written approval of the 
City.  In addition, neither this Agreement nor any interest herein may be transferred or assigned without 
the prior written approval of City.  Transfers restricted hereunder shall include the transfer to any person 
or group of persons acting in concert of more than twenty five percent (25%) of the present ownership 
and/or control of Contractor taking all transfers into account on a cumulative basis.  A prohibited transfer 
or assignment shall be void.  No approved transfer shall release the Contractor or any surety of Contractor 
of any liability hereunder without the express consent of City. 

4.4 Independent Contractor.  Neither the City nor any of its employees shall have any control 
over the manner or means by which Contractor or its employees, perform the services required herein, 
except as otherwise set forth herein.  Contractor shall perform all services required herein as an 
independent contractor of City and shall remain under only such obligations as are consistent with that 
role.  Contractor represents and warrants that the personnel used to provide services to the City pursuant to 
this Agreement are classified by Contractor as employees. Contractor shall not at any time or in any manner 
represent that it or any of its employees are employees of City.  City shall not in any way or for any 
purpose become or be deemed to be a partner of Contractor in its business or otherwise or a joint venturer 
or a member of any joint enterprise with Contractor.  In the event that Contractor or any employee of 
Contractor providing services under this Agreement claims or is determined by a federal or state agency, a 
court of competent jurisdiction, or the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“CalPERS”) to be 
classified as other than an independent contractor for the City, then Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the City for the payment of any and all assessed fines, penalties, judgments, employee and/or 
employer contributions, and any other damages and costs assessed to the City as a consequence of, or in any 
way attributable to, the assertion that Contractor or any staff used to provide services under this Agreement 
are employees of the City. 

5.0 INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION  

5.1 Insurance.  Contractor shall procure and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, in a form 
and content satisfactory to City, during the entire term of this Agreement including any extension thereof, 
the following policies of insurance: 

(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance.  A policy of commercial general liability 
insurance using Insurance Services Office “Commercial General Liability” policy form CG 00 01, with 
an edition date prior to 2004, or the exact equivalent.  Coverage for an additional insured shall not be 
limited to its vicarious liability.  Defense costs must be paid in addition to limits.  Limits shall be no less 
than $1,000,000.00 per occurrence for all covered losses and no less than $2,000,000.00 general 
aggregate. 

(b) Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  A policy of workers’ compensation insurance 
on a state-approved policy form providing statutory benefits as required by law with employer’s liability 
limits no less than $1,000,000.00 per accident for all covered losses. 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           5 

(c) Automotive Insurance.  A policy of comprehensive automobile liability insurance 
written on a per occurrence basis in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 per accident, combined single 
limit.  Said policy shall include coverage for owned, non owned, leased and hired cars. 

(d) Professional Liability or Error and Omissions Insurance.  A policy of 
$2,000,000.00  insurance in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00  per claim with respect to loss arising 
from the actions of Contractor performing professional services hereunder on behalf of the City. Any 
policy inception date, continuity date, or retroactive date must be before the effective date of this 
Agreement and Contractor agrees to maintain continuous coverage through a period no less than three 
(3) years after completion of the services required by this Agreement. 

All of the above policies of insurance shall be primary insurance.  The general liability policy 
shall name the City, its officers, employees and agents (“City Parties”) as additional insureds and shall 
waive all rights of subrogation and contribution it may have against the City and the City’s Parties and 
their respective insurers.  Moreover, the insurance policy must specify that where the primary insured 
does not satisfy the self-insured retention, any additional insured may satisfy the self-insured retention.  
All of said policies of insurance shall also provide that said insurance may be not cancelled without 
providing ten (10) days prior written notice by registered mail to the City.  In the event any of said 
policies of insurance are cancelled or amended, Contractor shall, prior to the cancellation or amendment 
date, submit new evidence of insurance in conformance with this Section 5.1 to the Contract Officer.  
No work or services under this Agreement shall commence until Contractor has provided City with 
Certificates of Insurance or appropriate insurance binders evidencing the above insurance coverages and 
said Certificates of Insurance or binders are approved by City. 

Contractor agrees that the provisions of this Section 5.1 shall not be construed as limiting in any 
way the extent to which Contractor may be held responsible for the payment of damages to any persons 
or property resulting from Contractor’s activities or the activities of any person or persons for which 
Contractor is otherwise responsible.  If the Contractor’s insurance policies have higher limits and 
coverage than those required by this contract, the City will have access to those higher limits and 
coverage maintained by the Contractor.  

The insurance required by this Agreement shall be satisfactory only if issued by companies 
qualified to do business in California, rated “A” or better in the most recent edition of Best Rating Guide 
or The Key Rating Guide, and only if they are of a financial category Class VII or better, unless such 
requirements are waived by the Risk Manager of the City due to unique circumstances. 

In the event that the Contractor is authorized to subcontract any portion of the work or services 
provided pursuant to this Agreement, the contract between the Contractor and such subcontractor shall 
require the subcontractor to maintain the same policies of insurance that the Contractor is required to 
maintain pursuant to this Section 5.1. 

5.2 Indemnification. 

(a) Indemnity for Design Professional Liability.  When the law establishes a 
professional standard of care for Contractor’s services, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and except 
for the statutory limits set forth under California Civil Code Section 2782.8 applicable to services 
provided by a “design professional”, Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless City and the 
City’s Parties from and against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses, including 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           6 

attorneys’ fees and costs to the extent same are caused in whole or in part by any negligent or wrongful 
act, error or omission of Contractor, its officers, employees of subcontractors (or any entity or individual 
for which Contractor shall bear legal liability) in the performance of professional services under this 
Agreement. 

(b) Indemnity for Other Than Design Professional Liability.  Other than in the 
performance of design professional services and to the full extent permitted by law, Contractor shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless City and City’s Parties from and against any liability (including 
liability for claims, suits, actions, losses, expenses or costs of any kind, whether actual, alleged or 
threatened, including attorneys’ fees and costs, court costs, defense costs and expert witness fees), where 
the same arise out of, are a consequence of, or are in any way attributable to, in whole or in part, the 
performance of this Agreement by Contractor or by any individual or entity for which Contractor is 
legally liable, including but not limited to officers, employees, or subcontractors of Contractor. 

6.0 RECORDS AND REPORTS 

6.1 Reports.  Contractor shall periodically prepare and submit to the Contract Officer such 
reports concerning the performance of the services required by this Agreement as the Contract Officer 
shall require.   

6.2 Records.  Contractor shall keep, and require subcontractors to keep, such books and 
records as shall be necessary to perform the services required by this Agreement and enable the Contract 
Officer to evaluate the performance of such services.  The Contract Officer shall have full and free access 
to such books and records at all times during normal business hours of City, including the right to inspect, 
copy, audit and make records and transcripts from such records.  Such records shall be maintained for a 
period of three (3) years following completion of the services hereunder, and the City shall have access 
to such records in the event any audit is required. 

 
6.3 Ownership of Documents.  All drawings, specifications, reports, records, documents and 

other materials prepared by Contractor, its employees and subcontractors in the performance of this 
Agreement shall be the property of City and shall be delivered to City upon request of the Contract 
Officer or upon the termination of this Agreement and Contractor shall have no claim for further 
employment or additional compensation as a result of the exercise by City of its full rights of ownership 
of such documents and materials.  Contractor may retain copies of such documents for its own use and 
Contractor shall have an unrestricted right to use the concepts embodied therein.  All subcontractors 
shall provide for assignment to City of any documents or materials prepared by them, and in the event 
Contractor fails to secure such assignment, Contractor shall indemnify City for all damages resulting 
therefrom.  Except as necessary for the performance of services under this Agreement, no documents 
prepared under this Agreement may be released by Contractor to any other person or entity without 
City’s prior written approval.  

6.4 Confidentiality of Information.  All information gained or work product produced by 
Contractor in performance of this Agreement will be considered confidential, unless such information is 
in the public domain or already known to Contractor.  Contractor may not release or disclose any such 
information or work product to persons or entities other than City without prior written authorization 
from the City Manager, except as may be required by law.  Contractor, its officers, employees, or agents, 
may not, without prior written authorization from the City Manager or unless requested by the City 
Attorney of City, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, testimony at depositions, response 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           7 

to interrogatories or other information concerning the services performed under this Agreement.  
Response to a subpoena or court order will not be considered “voluntary” provided Contractor gives City 
notice of such court order or subpoena. If Contractor, or any officer, employee, or agent of Contractor, 
provides any information or work product in violation of this Agreement, then City will have the right 
to reimbursement and indemnity from Contractor for any damages, costs and fees, including attorney’s 
fees, caused by or incurred as a result of Contractor’s conduct.  Contractor must promptly notify City 
should Contractor, its officers, employees, or agents be served with any summons, complaint, subpoena, 
notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, request for admissions or other discovery 
request, court order or subpoena from any party regarding this Agreement and the services performed 
under this Agreement.  City retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent Contractor or be present 
at any deposition, hearing or similar proceeding.  Contractor agrees to cooperate fully with City and to 
provide City with the opportunity to review any response to discovery requests provided by Contractor.  
However, this right to review any such response does not imply or mean the right by City to control, 
direct, or rewrite such response.  All media and press releases, including graphic display information, 
must be approved and distributed solely by City, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by City.  All 
media interviews regarding the performance of services under this Agreement are prohibited unless 
expressly authorized by City. 

7.0 ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT 

7.1 California Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted both as to validity 
and to performance of the parties in accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Legal actions 
concerning any dispute, claim or matter arising out of or in relation to this Agreement shall be instituted 
in the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, State of California, or any other appropriate court 
in such county, and Contractor agrees to submit to the personal jurisdiction of such court in the event of 
such action. 

7.2 Retention of Funds.  Contractor hereby authorizes City to deduct from any amount 
payable to Contractor (whether or not arising out of this Agreement) (i) any amounts the payment of 
which may be in dispute hereunder or which are necessary to compensate City for any losses, costs, 
liabilities, or damages suffered by City, and (ii) all amounts for which City may be liable to third parties, 
by reason of Contractor’s acts or omissions in performing or failing to perform Contractor’s obligation 
under this Agreement.  In the event that any claim is made by a third party, the amount or validity of 
which is disputed by Contractor, City may withhold from any payment due, without liability for interest 
because of such withholding, an amount sufficient to cover such claim.  The failure of City to exercise 
such right to deduct or to withhold shall not, however, affect the obligations of the Contractor to insure, 
indemnify, and protect City as elsewhere provided herein.   

7.3 Waiver.  No delay or omission in the exercise of any right or remedy by a non-defaulting 
party on any default shall impair such right or remedy or be construed as a waiver.  A party’s consent to 
or approval of any act by the other party requiring the party’s consent or approval shall not be deemed 
to waive or render unnecessary the other party’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act.  Any 
waiver by either party of any default must be in writing and shall not be a waiver of any other default 
concerning the same or any other provision of this Agreement. 

7.4 Termination Prior to Expiration of Term.  Either party may terminate this Agreement at 
any time, with or without cause, upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other party.  Upon receipt of 
any notice of termination, Contractor shall immediately cease all work or services hereunder except such 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           8 

as may be specifically approved by the Contract Officer.  Contractor shall be entitled to compensation 
for the reasonable value of the work product actually produced prior to the effective date of the notice 
of termination and for any services authorized by the Contract Officer thereafter in accordance with the 
Schedule of Compensation and City shall be entitled to reimbursement for any compensation paid in 
excess of the services rendered. 

7.5 Completion of Work After Termination for Default of Contractor.  If termination is due 
to the failure of the Contractor to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, City may, after compliance 
with the provisions of Section 7.2, take over the work and prosecute the same to completion by contract 
or otherwise, and the Contractor shall be liable to the extent that the total cost for completion of the 
services required hereunder exceeds the compensation herein stipulated (provided that the City shall use 
reasonable efforts to mitigate such damages), and City may withhold any payments to the Contractor for 
the purpose of set-off or partial payment of the amounts owed the City as previously stated. 

7.6 Attorneys’ Fees.  If either party to this Agreement is required to initiate or defend or made 
a party to any action or proceeding in any way connected with this Agreement, the prevailing party in 
such action or proceeding, in addition to any other relief which may be granted, shall be entitled to 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, whether or not the matter proceeds to judgment, and to all other reasonable 
costs for investigating such action, taking depositions and discovery, including all other necessary costs 
the court allows which are incurred in such litigation.   

8.0 CITY OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES: NON-DISCRIMINATION 

8.1 Non-liability of City Officers and Employees.  No officer or employee of the City shall 
be personally liable to the Contractor, or any successor in interest, in the event of any default or breach 
by the City or for any amount which may become due to the Contractor or to its successor, or for breach 
of any obligation of the terms of this Agreement. 

8.2 Conflict of Interest; City.  No officer or employee of the City shall have any financial 
interest in this Agreement nor shall any such officer or employee participate in any decision relating to 
the Agreement which affects his financial interest or the financial interest of any corporation, partnership 
or association in which he is interested, in violation of any State statute or regulation.   

8.3 Conflict of Interest; Contractor.  Contractor warrants that it has not paid or given and will 
not pay or give any third party any money or other consideration for obtaining this Agreement.  
Contractor shall comply with all conflict of interest laws and regulations including, without limitation, 
City’s Conflict of Interest Code which is on file in the City Clerk’s office.  Accordingly, should the City 
Manager determine that Contractor will be performing a specialized or general service for the City and 
there is substantial likelihood that the Contractor’s work product will be presented, either written or 
orally, for the purpose of influencing a governmental decision, the Contractor and its officers or 
employees, as applicable, shall be subject to the City’s Conflict of Interest Code. 

8.4 Covenant Against Discrimination.  Contractor covenants that, by and for itself, its 
executors, assigns, and all persons claiming under or through them, that there shall be no discrimination 
against or segregation of, any person or group of persons on account of race, color, creed, religion, sex, 
marital status, national origin, or ancestry in the performance of this Agreement.  Contractor shall take 
affirmative action to insure that applicants are employed and that employees are treated during 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           9 

employment without regard to their race, color, creed, religion, sex, marital status, national origin or 
ancestry. 

9.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

9.1 Notice.  Any notice or other communication either party desires or is required to give to 
the other party or any other person shall be in writing and either served personally or sent by prepaid, 
first-class mail, in the case of the City, to the City Manager and to the attention of the Contract Officer, 
City of Lawndale, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California 90260, and in the case of the Contractor, 
to the person at the address designated on the execution page of this Agreement.  Either party may change 
its address by notifying the other party of the change of address in writing.  Notice shall be deemed 
communicated at the time personally delivered or in seventy-two (72) hours from the time of mailing if 
mailed as provided in this Section. 

9.2 Interpretation.  The terms of this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the 
meaning of the language used and shall not be construed for or against either party by reason of the 
authorship of this Agreement or any other rule of construction which might otherwise apply. 

9.3 Integration; Amendment.  It is understood that there are no oral agreements between the 
parties hereto affecting this Agreement and this Agreement supersedes and cancels any and all previous 
negotiations, agreements and understandings, if any, between the parties, and none shall be used to 
interpret this Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended at any time by an instrument in writing 
signed by both parties. 

9.4 Severability.  Should a portion of this Agreement be declared invalid or unenforceable by 
a judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not 
affect any of the remaining portions of this Agreement which are hereby declared as severable and shall 
be interpreted to carry out the intent of the parties unless the invalid provision is so material that its 
invalidity deprives either party of the basic benefit of their bargain or renders this  Agreement 
meaningless. 

9.5 Corporate Authority.  The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties 
hereto warrant that (i) such party is duly organized and existing, (ii) they are duly authorized to execute 
and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said party, (iii) by so executing this Agreement, such party is 
formally bound to the provisions of this Agreement, and (iv) the entering into this Agreement does not 
violate any provision of any other Agreement to which said party is bound.  This Agreement is binding 
upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the parties. 

 
9.6 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which 

will constitute one and the same instrument and will become binding upon the parties when at least one 
copy has been signed by both parties.  This Agreement and any amendment will be considered executed 
when the signature page of a party is delivered by facsimile or other electronic transmission.  Such 
electronic signatures will have the same effect as an original signature, provided that a wet signature 
copy is also mailed to the other party. 

 
9.7 Modification of Agreement.  No amendment to or modification of this Agreement will 

be valid unless made in writing and approved by Consultant and by the City Council or City Manager, 



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           10 

as applicable.  The parties agree that this requirement for written modifications cannot be waived and 
that any attempted waiver will be void. 
 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
  



   
SA & ASSOCIATES 

LA #4829-0061-8211  v2           11 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and entered into this Agreement as of the 
date first written above. 

CITY: 
CITY OF LAWNDALE, 
a municipal corporation 

 
 

By: ________________________________ 
Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Erica Harbison, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
Burke Williams & Sorensen, LLP 
 
 
________________________________ 
Gregory M. Murphy, City Attorney 

 
[NOTE TO STAFF:  TWO signatures are required if the Contractor is a 
corporation, company or partnership.  Delete this note in preparing your 
agreement.] 

 
CONTRACTOR: 
SA & ASSOCIATES 
a private owned firm 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 

Name: Shahnawaz Ahmad 
Title:   President 
 
 1130 W. Huntington Drive, Unit 12 
 Arcadia, CA 91007 

 



   
[INSERT CONTRACTOR NAME] 

ALA #4829-0061-8211 v2 -1 

EXHIBIT “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

[SEE SA & ASSOCIATES PROPOSAL DATED JULY 6, 2021] 

 



   
[INSERT CONTRACTOR NAME] 

BLA #4829-0061-8211 v2 -1 

EXHIBIT “B” 

SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

• A new Section 2.4 is added to the Agreement to read as follows: 

“2.4 Prevailing Wages; Indemnification. Contractor and all subcontractors shall 
comply with the State Labor standards. State Labor standards provisions, including prevailing 
wage requirements, will be enforced such that the general rate of per diem wages (prevailing wage) 
shall be paid for each craft, classification, or type of worker needed to execute the contract to all 
workers employed in the execution of the contract for the work to be performed by _SA & 
Associates_.  The State General Prevailing Wage Determination is as established by the California 
Department of Industrial Relations for Los Angeles County. (Refer to 
http://www.dir.ca.gov/OPRL/PWD/Determinations/Statewide/C-TT.pdf for additional 
information.)  The prevailing rate of per diem wages are on file at the City of Lawndale Department 
of Public Works, 4722 Manhattan Beach Boulevard, Lawndale, California 90266, and are 
available to any interested party on request.  The statutory provisions for penalties for failure to 
pay prevailing wages and/or failure to otherwise comply with state's wage and hour laws will be 
enforced.  The Contractor is required to post at the job site the prevailing rate of per diem wages 
and other notices prescribed by regulation. 

The Contractors and all subcontractors must submit electronic certified payroll records 
weekly directly to the Labor Commissioner (aka Division of Labor  Standards Enforcement) no less 
than monthly and must comply with all statutory requirements relating to certified copies of payroll 
records, including the maintenance of the records, their certification, and their availability for 
inspection as required by  Labor Code Section 1776 and as required under Subsection 7-2.6 of said  
Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction.    
 

Contractor shall indemnify, defend with legal counsel approved by the City, and hold the 
City and City’s Parties harmless from and against any all liability, loss, damage, costs, or expenses 
(including attorneys' fees and court costs) arising from or as a result of any action, claim, or 
determination relating in any way to the failure to properly pay of prevailing wages.  Moreover, 
the City retains the right to settle or abandon any such the matter without the Contractor’s consent 
as to the City’s liabilities or rights only.” 

 
• A new Section 5.1(e) is added to the Agreement to read as follows: 

 
(e) Cyber Liability Insurance.  The cyber liability insurance must include the following 

coverage: 
• Liability arising from the theft, dissemination and/or use of confidential or personally 

identifiable information; including credit monitoring and regulatory fines arising from 
such theft, dissemination or use of the confidential information. 



   
[INSERT CONTRACTOR NAME] 

BLA #4829-0061-8211 v2 -2 

• Network security liability arising from the unauthorized use of, access to, or tampering 
with computer systems. 

• Liability arising from the failure of technology products (software) required under the 
Agreement for Contractor to properly perform the services intended. 

• Electronic media liability arising from personal injury, plagiarism or misappropriation 
of ideas, domain name infringement or improper deep-linking or framing, and 
infringement or violation of intellectual property rights. 

• Liability arising from the failure to render professional services 
• If coverage is maintained on a “claims-made” basis, Cont must maintain such coverage 

for an additional period of three years following termination of the Agreement. 
 



   
[INSERT CONTRACTOR NAME] 

DLA #4829-0061-8211 v2 -1 

EXHIBIT “C” 

SCHEDULE OF COMPENSATION 
 

[SEE SA & ASSOCIATES FEE SCHEDULE DATED JULY 6, 2021] 
  



   
[INSERT CONTRACTOR NAME] 

DLA #4829-0061-8211 v2 -2 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 

SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

 

[SEE SA & ASSOCIATES PROPOSAL & FEE SCHEDULE DATED JULY 6, 2021] 

 



DELIVERING VALUE ... COMMITTED TO EXCELLENCE 

CITY OF LAWNDALE 

PROPOSAL FOR 

CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION SERVICES FOR 
FY 2020/21 ANNUAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

JULY 6, 2021 



1130 W. Huntington Drive, Unit 12, Arcadia, CA 91007    TEL 626.821.3456    FAX 626.445.1461   e-mail: sahmad@saassociates.net 

July 6, 2021 

City of Lawndale 
Public Works Department 
4722 Manhattan Beach Boulevard 
Lawndale, CA  90260 
Attn: Kevin Moghadasi 

Subject: Proposal for Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 

Dear Mr. Moghadasi: 

In accordance with the Request for Proposal, we are pleased to submit our proposal to provide Construction 
Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project.  

SA Associates was established in May, 1989 as a principal-owned engineering firm, offering services in the civil 
engineering field, with offices in both Los Angeles and Orange. We are committed to engineering excellence and 
principal involvement. 

To date we have provided construction management and or inspection services for a construction cost of 
$135 million to cities, municipalities and water districts in the Southern California area, including the city 
of Alhambra.   

All the inspectors proposed for your projects have worked with and are familiar with the “Standard Specifications 
for Public Works Construction” (Greenbook), Caltrans Standard Specifications, and Cal/OSHA Construction 
Safety Orders. 

Based on our experience, successful street projects require: 

 A Committed Team: SA Associates’ senior management is known to provide first-hand involvement in
project activities, maintaining proper responsiveness and coordination efforts throughout all project phases.

It is our aim to provide your project with high quality engineering services. To assure this quality, we have
staffed your project with professionals who understand the project and the local conditions, and have the
requisite experience, skills and familiarity with public works projects policies and procedures.  Our team will
provide technically innovative and cost reducing solutions while meeting the City needs and goals on time and
within budget. Team and firm qualifications are presented in Sections II and III, respectively.

 A Thorough Understanding of Site Conditions:  Our staff understand the ins-and-outs of this project and
this in-turn minimizes potential field discrepancies.

Our Cost Proposal is provided in a separate sealed envelope. 

Mr. Shahnawaz Ahmad, President of SA Associates and corporate officer, is the person authorized representative 
of the firm.  He can be contacted at 626.821.3456 or by e-mail at sahmad@saassociates.net.  

We acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 1.  A signed copy in included in Section VIII. 

Thank you for the opportunity and hope our proposal meets your interest and approval.  Should you have any 
queries or require any further information, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned.   

Very truly yours, 

Shahnawaz Ahmad, P.E. 
President 

mailto:sahmad@saassociates.net


 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS   Page 1 of 1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
COVER LETTER         

 
SECTION I: BACKGROUND      
   
SECTION II: FIRM’S EXPERIENCE & REFERENCES 
 
SECTION III: STAFF’S EXPERIENCE  
 
SECTION IV: PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
 
SECTION V: DETAILED SCHEDULE 
 
SECTION VI: STATEMENT OF ACCEPTANCE OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
SECTION VII: SAMPLES- WEEKLY STATEMENT OF WORKING DAYS AND INSPECTOR REPORTS 
 
SECTION VIII: ADDENDUM NO. 1 
    
 
(OUR FEE PROPOSAL IS IN A SEPARATE FILE) 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION I:  BACKGROUND   Page 1 of 2 
 

SECTION I:  BACKGROUND 
 
 
INTRODUCTION TO SA ASSOCIATES  
 
SA Associates was established in May, 1989 as a principal-owned engineering firm 
with offices in Los Angeles and Orange Counties. SA Associates is a California 
Corporation and “SA Associates” is our full legal name. SA Associates services cover 
a broad spectrum of engineering from investigation and feasibility reports to design, 
construction administration, and construction observation. The firm provides 
complete civil engineering services for municipalities, public and private water 
agencies, sanitary districts, and flood control districts. SA Associates is classified as a Minority Owned Business 
Enterprise (MBE), Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE), and Small Business Enterprise (SBE) by local, 
state, and federal agencies. SA Associates is in stable financial condition. 
 
Our main fields of specialty are: 

• Construction Management and Construction Inspection Services 
• Wastewater Facilities Projects 
• Water Supply Projects 
• Civil Engineering 
• Feasibility Studies 
• Flood Control and Drainage Projects 
• Surveying Services 

 
Our office locations are as follows: 

CORPORATE OFFICE ORANGE COUNTY OFFICE 

1130 West Huntington Drive, Unit 12   
Arcadia, CA 91007 
Tel:  626.821.3456 
Fax: 626.445.1461 

1661 N. Raymond Ave, Suite 100   
Anaheim, CA 92801 
Tel:  714.871.9083 
Fax: 714.871.3652 

 
Mr. Shahnawaz Ahmad is the primary contact and the authorized signatory on behalf of the firm.  Please contact 
Mr. Ahmad at sahmad@saassociates.net.  He is based in the Arcadia Office. 
 
BACKGROUND EXPERIENCE 
 
SA Associates’ experience was gained through providing engineering 
services to several cities and agencies in the greater Los Angeles area 
for the past 32 years. All of SA Associates completed (or currently 
ongoing) projects are for public agencies. Our team of engineers and 
professionals are aware of the requirements of most public agencies 
and are familiar with public procedures.   
 
To date we have provided construction management and or 
inspection services for a construction cost of $135 million to 
cities, municipalities and water districts in the Southern 
California area 
 
 
As noted above SA Associates has solid experience in this area. Some of our most recent Street Improvement 
inspection experience include: 
 

SA Associates is 
classified as DBE, MBE 
and SBE by local, state 
and federal agencies 

mailto:sahmad@saassociates.net


 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION I:  BACKGROUND   Page 1 of 2 
 

• City of Glendora Construction Inspection for Lone Hill Avenue 
Street Improvement 
 

• City of Irwindale 2020-2021 Resurfacing Project 
 

• County of Los Angeles, Department of Public Works Lotus 
Avenue Pavement Preservation 
 

• City of Manhattan Beach Liberty Village Pavement 
Rehabilitation 
 

• County of Orange Cowan Heights PCC & AC Remedial Repair 
& Rossmoor Phase IA Remedial Repair  
 

• City of San Marino 2019 Street Rehabilitation 
 

 
 
 



Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES  Page 1 of 6 

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES 

The following is a list of similar projects, with references, that we have completed in the past 5 years: 

CITY OF EL MONTE 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2018  
CONSTRUCTION COST: Various 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Shannon Leonard 
CITY CONTACT: Branden Yu (now Director of Public Works with city of Upland) 
TELEPHONE/E-MAIL: 909.291.2931 | byu@uplandca.gov 
City Public Works Inspector.  Providing construction inspection services to  Inspect various public works projects 
being performed by utility companies and private firms doing work in the public right of way, including City capital 
improvement projects; Inspect traffic control, trench repair, compaction, etc.; preparation of daily inspection logs, 
and maintain records in a working file; enforcing all applicable NPDES, CALOSHA, and local, state, and federal 
regulations and guidelines; issuing citations as necessary; responding to various resident complaints, follow up 
with applicable City department or division as necessary; assess emergency situations and respond accordingly; 
coordinating with other City divisions, outside agencies and organizations, and utility companies as necessary; 
and performing constructability review of bid specifications and drawings.  

CITY OF FONTANA 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2018 
CONSTRUCTION COST: Various 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Craig Jents 
CITY CONTACT: Rick Aspril 
TELEPHONE/E-MAIL: 909.350.6632 | RAspril@fontana.org 
As-Needed Construction Inspection 
Providing inspection services for various street, traffic signal, and permit projects. Projects include Traffic 
Improvement at Randall Ave. & Juniper Ave., Fontana Ave. & Arrow Blvd., and Juniper Ave. & Ceres Ave.   

CITY OF GLENDALE 

CITY OF GLENDORA 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2019 
CONSTRUCTION COST: $800,000 
CONSULTANT FEE: $37,800 
CONSTR. INSPECTOR: Craig Jents 
CLIENT CONTACT: Maliha Ansari, Principal Engineer, City of Glendora 
TELEPHONE / E-MAIL: 626.914.8294 | mansari@ci.glendora.ca.us 
Construction Inspection for Lone Hill Avenue Street Improvements 
Provided inspection services for street improvements on Long Hill Ave. from Gladstone St. north to the San Dimas 
Wash, just south of the I-210 Fwy. 

YEAR COMPLETED: 2018 
CONSTRUCTION COST: Various 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTORS: Heustace Lewis, Mitch Malganji 
CITY CONTACT: Gary Edsall, Construction Services Manager 
TELEPHONE/E-MAIL: 818.937.8226 | GEdsall@Glendaleca.gov 
As-Needed Construction Inspection 
Providing inspection services for various traffic signal and street projects throughout the City. Current projects 
include Western Avenue and Riverside Dr. Rehabilitation and Doran Street Improvements. 

mailto:byu@uplandca.gov
mailto:RAspril@fontana.org
mailto:mansari@ci.glendora.ca.us
mailto:GEdsall@Glendaleca.gov


 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES   Page 2 of 6 
 

CITY OF IRWINDALE 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2021 
CONSTRUCTION COST: $420,000 
CONSULTANT FEE: $64,000 
CONSTR. INSPECTORS: Mark Luera, Raul Garibay 
CLIENT CONTACT: Luis Pimentel 
TELEPHONE / E-MAIL: 626.430.2259 | lpimentel@irwindaleca.gov  
2020-2021 Resurfacing Project 
Provided construction management and inspection services for street improvements Avenida Barbosa and Buena 
Vista Street from Avenida Barbosa to City Limits. 

 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

 
CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH  
YEAR COMPLETED: 2019   
CONSTRUCTION COST: $2,800,000 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Mark Luera 
CITY CONTACT: Tim Birthisel, Sr. Civil Engineer 
TELEPHONE / E-MAIL: 310.802.5358 | tbirthisel@citymb.info  
Liberty Village Neighborhood and Marine Avenue Pavement Rehabilitation 
Provided inspection services for rehabilitation of approximately 20,600 ft. of pavement.  The work consists of cold 
milling existing pavement, and overlay with rubberized asphalt, AC paving, traffic striping and markings, and traffic 
loop replacement. In addition, the project will involve concrete repair, which includes sixty ADA access ramp 
installations within the Liberty Village and twenty-one along Marine Avenue, curb repairs, sidewalk and cross 
gutter replacements. 

 

YEAR COMPLETED: Ongoing – Contract from 2016 to present 
CONSTRUCTION COST: Various | Total Contract $13,500,000+ 
PROJECT MANAGER: Shahnawaz Ahmad 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTORS: Arman Barin, Miguel Bolanos, Fadi Chinder, Ray Dilbeck, Harold Greene, Jeff 

Herrera, Jason Jackson, Craig Jents, Ramzi Khaouli, Mark, Luera, Hugo 
Magaña, Amir Moghaddam, and Christopher Robinson 

COUNTY CONTACT: • Victor M. Bermudez, Supervisor Contract Construction, East Area 
• Akbar Gadim, Head Construction Inspector 

TELEPHONE/E-MAIL: Cell 626.688.8275 | Vbermude@dpw.lacounty.gov 
818.994.9964 | agadim@dpw.lacounty.gov  

On-Call Construction Inspection Services 
Selected to provide On-Call Construction Management and Inspection Services in support of permitted activities 
in the road and flood rights of way or Department administered road, bridge, traffic signal, flood control, sewer, 
and water construction projects located throughout Los Angeles County. Abbreviated list of projects: 

• Altadena Slope Repair 
• Catch Basin Cleanout 2016-2018  
• Cerritos Catch Basin 
• Dominguez Gap Barrier Telemetry 
• Hambledon Project 
• Ladera Park Stormwater 
• La Tuna Fire – Sunset Upper Debris Basin 
• Long Beach 17th Street Pumping Plant  
• Otterbein Avenue Concrete Phase I  

Pelissier Village 
 
 
Note: We have successfully worked with the County of Los Angeles and have provided a regular stream of 
inspectors and technical support staff since 2016.  

• Manhattan Beach Pump Station 
• Rio Hondo College Concrete Pavement 

Slauson Avenue Revitalization 
• San Gabriel Coastal Spreading Grounds 
• Sunshine Park 
• Quartz Hill Elementary School Traffic 

Improvements 
• West Coast Basin Barrier 
• Lotus Avenue Pavement Preservation 
• Devil’s Gate Reservoir Sediment Removal 
• Catch Basin Cleanouts 2020 Season 

mailto:lpimentel@irwindaleca.gov
mailto:tbirthisel@citymb.info
mailto:Vbermude@dpw.lacounty.gov
mailto:agadim@dpw.lacounty.gov


 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES   Page 3 of 6 
 

CITY OF MONTEREY PARK  

 
CITY OF NORWALK  
YEAR COMPLETED: 2017    
CONSTRUCTION COST: $1,018,000 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Jason Jackson 
CITY CONTACT: Julian Lee (Currently Public Works Director with the city of Lawndale) 
TELEPHONE /E-MAIL: 310.973.3260 | jlee@lawndalecity.org  
Local Streets Rehabilitation Project  
Provided construction inspection for rehabilitation of various streets in the City 

 
COUNTY OF ORANGE 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2019   
CONSTRUCTION COST: $3,000,000 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Mark Luera 
CITY CONTACT: Bruce Poma, Supervising County Inspector 
TELEPHONE /E-MAIL: 714.448.1672 | bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com  
Ocean View Channel Rehabilitation Project 
Inspection for rehabilitation of the Ocean View Channel which included crack seal work in the channel.   The work 
included inspecting channel maintenance project performed under OC Construction’s Job Order Contract, 
including earth moving operations, placement of base materials, asphalt concrete, placement and fabrication of 
structural steel, erection of falsework and forms and placement of concrete. 

 
YEAR COMPLETED:  2020  
CONSTRUCTION COST: N/A Inspection only, hourly rate 
CONSTRUCTION MGR: Shahnawaz Ahamad 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Mark Luera 
CITY CONTACT: Michelle Chan, Project Manager | Bruce Poma, Supervising County Inspector 
TELEPHONE /E-MAIL: 714.245.4507 | michelle.chan@ocpw.com  

714.448.1672 | bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com  
On-Call Inspection for Cowan Heights PCC & AC Remedial Repair Project 
The work will include inspection of road maintenance project performed under OC Construction’s Job Order 
Contract, including grinding operations, placement of base materials, asphalt concrete placement and fabrication 
of structural steel, erection of falsework and forms and placement of concrete. 

 

YEAR COMPLETED: 2018    
CONSTRUCTION COST: Various 
PW INSPECTOR: Shannon Leonard 
CITY CONTACT: Mark McAvoy, now with the City of Laguna Beach 
TELEPHONE / E-MAIL: 949.497.0797 | mmcavoy@lagunabeachcity.net  
Public Works Inspector 
Provided services as the City’s Public Works Inspector.  The work included: 
• Inspection of various public works projects being performed by utility companies and private firms doing work 

in the public right of way, including City capital improvement projects. 
• Inspection of traffic control, trench repair, compaction, etc.   
• Preparation of daily inspection logs, and maintaining records in a working file. 
• Utilizing the City’s permit tracking system (Accela) to schedule and document inspections, and closeout 

permits. 
• Enforcement of all applicable NPDES, CALOSHA, and local, state, and federal regulations and guidelines; 

issue citations as necessary.  
• Responding to various resident complaints, following up with applicable City department or division as 

necessary. 
• Assessing emergency situations and respond accordingly. 
• Coordination with other City divisions, outside agencies and organizations, and utility companies as necessary.   
• Performing constructability review of bid specifications and drawings.  

mailto:jlee@lawndalecity.org
mailto:bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com
mailto:michelle.chan@ocpw.com
mailto:bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com
mailto:mmcavoy@lagunabeachcity.net


 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES   Page 4 of 6 
 

 
YEAR COMPLETED:  2019  
CONSTRUCTION COST: $970,619 
CONSTRUCTION MGR: Shahnawaz Ahamad 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Mark Luera 
CITY CONTACT: Michelle Chan, Project Manager || Bruce Poma 
TELEPHONE /E-MAIL: 714.245.4507 | michelle.chan@ocpw.com  

714.448.1672 | bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com  
On-Call Inspection for Rossmoor Phase IA PCC Remedial Repair Project 
The work included inspection of the repair and replacement of PCC items located 
within the Rossmoor service area and included: crack seal installation; adjusting 
manholes to grade; adjusting utility boxes and valves to grade; removing asphalt 
roadway structural section; removing and replacing access ramp and spandrel; roving 
and replacing gutter, cross gutter and curb; replacing sidewalks; replacing drive 
approach; pavement marking; installation of project information signs.  
Note: SA Associates met many deadlines and hurdles. The residents were very 
pleased and even regularly supplied coolers with drinks, as well as coffee and donuts. 

 
CITY OF POMONA 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2018  
CONSTRUCTION COST: $1,900,000 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER: Eric Schoenen 
CITY CONTACT: Rene Guerrero, Public Works Director 
TELEPHONE / E-MAIL: 909.620.2440 | Rene_Guerrero@ci.pomona.ca.us   
Federal Streets Rehabilitation  
Provided Project/Construction Management Services for Federal Streets Rehabilitation (Districts 2 & 3), Street 
Improvements Citywide (CDBG) (FY 15-16 to FY 17-18), and Sidewalks – Penmar Lane (CDBG) and ADA Path 
of Travel (CDBG) (FY 14-15 to FY 16-17) Improvements. This project was administered in accordance with 
Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual (LAPM), Local Assistance Program Guidelines (LAPG) and Federal 
Highway Administration’s (FHWA) requirements. A successful audit was conducted by Caltrans. 

 
CITY OF SAN MARINO 
YEAR COMPLETED: 2020  
CONSTRUCTION COST: $2,109,000 
PROJECT MANAGER: Shahnawaz Ahmad 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTORS: Craig Jents  
CITY CONTACT: Michael Throne, Public Works Director, City of San Marino 
TELEPHONE / E-MAIL: 626.300.0787 | mthrone@cityofsanmarino.org  
2019 Street Rehabilitation Program 
Construction Inspection Services for the annual street rehabilitation program project. Work includes construction 
inspection services of the actual construction.  

 
A table showing our Construction Management and Inspection Services experience follows. 

YEAR COMPLETED:  2018 
CONSTRUCTION COST: $1,197,842 
CONSTRUCTION MGR: Shahnawaz Ahamad 
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR: Mark Luera 
CITY CONTACT: Michelle Chan, Project Manager || Bruce Poma 
TELEPHONE /E-MAIL: 714.245.4507 | michelle.chan@ocpw.com  

714.448.1672 | bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com  
On-Call Inspection for Rossmoor Phase IC PCC Remedial Repair Project 
The work in general consisted of crack sealing various streets, AC remedial repairs of approximately 5% of the 
total area, and the removal of two abandoned traffic vaults.   

mailto:michelle.chan@ocpw.com
mailto:bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com
mailto:Rene_Guerrero@ci.pomona.ca.us
mailto:mthrone@cityofsanmarino.org
mailto:michelle.chan@ocpw.com
mailto:bruce.poma@ocpw.ocgov.com


Constr. Year
Cost Compl. Constr. Constr. Constr.
($) Mgmnt. Inspec. Support

1 City of Irwindale 2020-2021 Resurfacing Project Street 420,000 2021 X X

2 City of San Marino 2019 Street Rehabilitation Program Sreet 2,109,000 2020 X

3 County of Orange Various projects under On-Call Construction Management and Inspection Contract Various 6,000,000 2020 X

4 City of Downey Telegraph Road Water System Improvement Project Water 1,482,000 2020 X X

5 City of Glendora Lone Hill Avenue Improvements Street 800,000 2019 X

6 City of Manhattan Beach Liberty Village Neighborhood & Marine Avenue Pavment Rehabilitation Street 2,800,000 2019 X

7 City of Manhattan Beach Cycle 1 Sewer Main Replacement Sewer 450,000 2019 X

8 City of Glendora Loraine Avenue Water Main Improvements Water 1,300,000 2019 X

9 City of Glendora Laurel Avenue Water Main Improvements Water 400,000 2019 X

10 City of El Monte Public Works Inspection Various Various
2018 to 
present X

11 City of Fontana As-Needed Construction Inspection Street Various 2018 X

12 City of Manhattan Beach Cycle 1 Storm Drain Replacement Storm Drain 500,000 2018 X

13 City of Norwalk FY 2016/17 Sewer System Rehabilitation Inspection Sewer 700,000 2018 X

14 City of Norwalk Local Streets Rehabilitation Project Street 1,018,000 2017 X

15 City of Monterey Park Providing Public Works Inspection for City Projects Various Various 2017 X

16 City of Norwalk FY 2015/16 Sewer System Rehabilitation Inspection Sewer 300,000 2017 X

17 City of Alhambra Westmont Drive Water Main Replacement Water Main 1,350,000 2017 X X

18 City of Whittier Palm Avenue and Scenic Drive Infrastructure Improvements Project Water, Streets 1,800,000 2017 X X

19 Kinneloa Irrigation District East-West Tank Connector Pipeline Project Water Main 644,000 2017 X

20 City of Alhambra Valley Boulevard & Almansor Street Sewer Replacement Sewer 3,700,000 2016 X X

21 Rose Hills Memorial Park and Cemetery Recyled Water Retrofit and Potable Water/Fire Protection Pipeline, Modification to Wells & Reservoirs Water, Wells, Reservoirs 900,000 2016 X X

22 City of Norwalk Civic Center Drive Street 663,000 2016 X

23 Los Angeles County Public Works Dept. Various Street Projects throughout Los Angeles County Water, Streets, Catch Basins Various
On-Going 
from 2016 X

24 City of Santa Monica Water Main Replacement/Upgrade Project Water Main 4,000,000 2015 X X

25 City of Santa Monica 2014 Annual Wastewater Improvements Citywide (SP2297) Sewer 400,000 2015 X X

26 City of Pomona Park Avenue Water Main Replacement Water Main 1,000,000 2015 X X X

27 City of Glendale Street Traffic Signal Inspection for Various City Projects Traffic Signals/Electrical N/A 2014 to2018 X

28 City of Azusa Miscellaneous Inspection for Rosedale Housing Development Electrical N/A 2013 to 2016 X

29 City of Rancho Palos Verdes Miscellaneous Utility Inspections and City Projects Various N/A 2014 X

30 Long Beach Water Department Sewer Cement Pipe Rehabilitation/Replacement Group 2 Sewer 333,000 2014 X X X

31 City of Pomona Sewer Pipeline Replacement - Citywide )Phase II) Sewer 266,000 2014 X X X

32 City of San Bernardino Pine Trails Tract: Street, Sewer, SD N/A 2014 X

33 City of San Bernardino Cajon Storm Drain Installation Storm Drain 4,000,000 2014 X

34 City of San Bernardino Traffic Signal Installations Streets 3,000,000 2014 X X

35 City of San Bernardino Mt. Vernon Bridge Shoring Project w-BNSF Streets 350,000 2014 X X

36 City of Burbank Safe Route to Schools Streets 350,000 2014 X

37 City of Bellflower Palo Verde Avenue Pavement Rehabilitation Streets 380,000 2014 X X X

38 City of South Pasadena South Pasadena Glendon Way & El Centro Street Rail Crossing Modification Project Sreets Rail Crossing 300,000 2013 X X

39 City of South Pasadena Sewer Improvements on Arroyo Drive, Huntington Drive, Marengo Avenue, and Meridian Avenue Sewer 620,000 2012 X X

40 City of Arcadia Baldwin Avenue Sewer Improvements Sewer 500,000 2012 X

42 City of Santa Monica 3rd Court Water Main Replacement Project Water Main 900,000 2012 X X

42 City of Azusa W-265 Water Main Replacement Project Water Main 1,430,000 2012 X X

43 City of Pomona Service Lateral and Sewer Replacement Projects Water & Sewer 590,000 2012 X X X

44 City of Baldwin Park Proposition 1B Citywide Street Improvement Project Streets 1,300,000 2011 X X

45 City of Azusa Light & Water Department W-266A Water Main Replacement Project Water Main 1,200,000 2011 X X

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT AND INSPECTION EXPERIENCE

Services Provided
Agency Project NameNo. Project Type

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES     Page 5 of 6



Constr. Year
Cost Compl. Constr. Constr. Constr.
($) Mgmnt. Inspec. Support

Services Provided
Agency Project NameNo. Project Type

46 City of Pomona Three (3) Contracts associated with the City's FY 2008-09 Water & Sewer CIP Water & Sewer 3,500,000 2011 X X X

47 City of Burbank Alameda Avenue and Buena Vista Street intersection Improvement Project Streets 850,000 2011 X

48 City of Azusa Citrus Avenue Reconstruction Project Streets 964,000 2010 X X X

49 City of Inglewood Rehabilitation of Manchester Boulevard Streets 3,200,000 2010 X X X

50 City of Baldwin Park City’s Syracuse Storm Drain Project Storm Drain 600,000 2010 X X X

51 City of Irwindale Martin Road Sewer Lift Station Project Sewer 200,000 2010 X X X

52 County of Los Angeles As-needed Construction Inspection and Technical Support Staffing Services All Utilities Various 2009 X

53 City of Azusa WVF-243 Water Main Replacement Project in San Gabriel Canyon Boulevard and Daybreak Drive Water Main 1,600,000 2009 X X

54 City of La Palma Sodium Hypochlorite Generating SystemS AT Walker Well and City Yard Sites Well 630,000 2008 X X

55 City of La Palma Indigo Ave. Storm Drain Storm Drain 200,000 2008 X

56 City of Azusa Light & Water Department WVF-243 Water Main Replacement Project Water Main 1,600,000 2008 X X

57 City of Norwalk Curtis and King Sewer Lift Station Sewer 137,000 2008 X X

58 City of Burbank Olive Avenue and Alameda Avenue Intersection Improvements Project Streets 1,300,000 2007 X

59 City of Burbank Magnolia Park Improvement Project Phase 5 Parks 600,000 2006 X

60 City of Burbank Buena Vista Street Improvement Project Streets 1,500,000 2007 X

61 City of Burbank Various Street Improvements Streets Various 2007 X

62 City of Burbank Johnny Carson park Restroom Restoration project Parks 300,000 2007 X

63 City of Burbank Pacific Park Parks 300,000 2006 X

64 City of Murrieta Safe Route to Schools (SR2S) Sidewalk Improv. (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

65 City of Murrieta MVUSD Rd. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

66 City of Murrieta Fig St. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

67 City of Murrieta Scott Rd. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

68 City of Murrieta Washington Ave. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X X

69 City of Murrieta Old Town Streets Overlay (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

70 City of Murrieta Western Historic Murrieta Storm Drain System (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

71 City of Murrieta Adams Ave. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

72 City of Murrieta Vineyard Pkwy. Widening (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

73 City of Murrieta Stepp Rd. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

74 City of Murrieta Whitewood Rd. Improvements (PM & CM Services for CIP for 2005-2007) Streets 2007 X

75 City of Lomita Storm Drain Improvements on 262nd Street and Eshelman Avenue Storm Drain 200,000 2007 X X X

76 Long Beach Water Department Two Alley Service Connection Conversion Projects Water Main 630,000 2007 X X X

77 West Basin Municipal Water District Anza Avenue Recycled Water Lateral at Sepulveda Boulevard in the City of Torrance Reycled Water 66,000 2007 X X X

78 City of Murrieta Washington Avenue/”B” Street Historic Downtown Improvement Project All Utilities 4,000,000 2006 X X X

79 City of Hawaiian Gardens Safe Route to Schools (SR2S) Fedde Middle School Improvement Project Streets 150,000 2006 X X X

80 City of Santa Monica City’s Fiscal Year 2005 Street and Park Lighting Project Streets & Lighting 2,100,000 2006 X

81 City of Alhambra Water Master Plan Main Line Replacement Project Water Main 1,240,000 2006 X X

82 City of Anaheim Katella Avenue 12" Water Main Project Water Main 350,000 2006 X

83 Long Beach Water Department Osgood & DeForest Large Valve and Tie-Ins Project Water Main 680,500 2006 X X X

84 Long Beach Water Department Water Main Bridge Crossings Repair Project Water Main 2,300,000 2006 X

85 City of Pomona Districts 4, 5, & 6 Water Main Replacement Project Water Main 2,700,000 2006 X X X

86 City of Malibu Zumirez Drive Project Streets 500,000 2005 X

87 City of Alhambra Water Main Line and Valve Replacement Projects Water Main 530,000 2005 X X

88 City of Pomona Priority 1 Group 3 Projects (Districts 1, 3, & 6) Water Main 2,000,000 2005 X X X

89 City of Torrance I-25 Water Main Replacement Project Water Main 2,000,000 2005 X X X

Total Construction Cost $135,182,500.

50,000,000

SECTION II:  FIRM EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES     Page 6 of 6



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE   Page 1 of 6 
 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE 
 
 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Resumes for our Project Team members are on the following pages.  
 
We will not be utilizing the services of any subconsultants. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Support Staff 

PROJECT COORDINATOR 
Shahnawaz Ahmad, PE, QSD 

 

CONSTRUCTION INSPECTORS 
Craig Jents 
Mark Luera 

 
 
 
 

AutoCAD Designer 
Hugo Magana 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE   Page 2 of 6 
 

SHAHNAWAZ AHMAD, P.E., QSD 
PROJECT COORDINATOR 

OVERVIEW 

Mr. Ahmad serves as principal-in-charge and/or project manager for projects related 
to water and sewer system master planning; water resources; water supply and 
treatment; water reuse; wastewater collection, treatment, and disposal; storm 
drainage; design of water and wastewater treatment plants, water pipelines, sewers, 
pumping stations, wells, storage reservoirs, and water reclamation systems; studies 
of water and wastewater treatment processes; and industrial waste problems.   
 
PROJECT EXPERIENCE 
CITY OF ALHAMBRA 
.    Provided construction management and inspection services for the Valley 

Boulevard - Almansor Street Sewer Replacement Project (Project). The work 
included installation of approximately 1,380 ft. of 36” extra-strength VCP sewer 
along Almansor St. from San Marino Ave. to Valley Blvd. and approximately 1,830 
ft of 30” extra-strength VCP sewer along Valley Blvd. from Almansor St. to Garfield 
Ave. 

 
. Westmont Drive Water Main Replacement – Engineering design and 

construction support services for the replacement of approximately 3,500 ft. of 
4” and 14” water mains. 

 
CITY OF AZUSA 
. Construction management services for the Citrus Avenue Reconstruction Project, 

from Alosta Avenue north to the northerly city limits, approximately 2,500 feet. The 
work included installation of new sidewalk, curb, gutter, ADA ramps, restriping of 
the entire length to match the existing striping, reinstallation of traffic loops, 
adjustment of water valves and manholes to final grade.  The project was funded 
by the American Reinvestment and Recovery Act (ARRA). 

 
CITY OF BELLFLOWER 
. Construction management and inspection services for Palo Verde Avenue 

Pavement Rehabilitation project. The project comprises the rehabilitation/ 
resurfacing of the segment of Palo Verde Avenue that extends from Artesia Blvd. 
to the South City Limit (approximately 2,600 ft).  

 
CITY OF GLENDALE 
.    Inspection Services for on-call traffic signal projects in the City: Glendale Avenue 

Wastewater Capacity & Street Improvement, Canada Blvd. Infrastructure 
Improvements & Honolulu Ave. Rehabilitation, San Fernando Road Lighting 
Project, and Arden Avenue Rehabilitation, Wilson Streetlight & Traffic Signal 
upgrades, Doran/Central Development, as well as Colorado Blvd. Parking Lot 10, 
and Verdugo Rd./Honolulu Ave. Intersection. 

 
CITY OF GLENDORA 
 Project Manager for street improvements on Lone Hill Ave. from Gladstone St. 

north to the San Dimas Wash, just south of the I-210 Freeway. Lone Hill Ave. is a 
very busy street, near shopping areas and the Glendora Auto Center. The work 
included asphalt overlay, construction staging at heavily traveled intersection. Due 
to heavy traffic, some work was conducted at night 

 
CITY OF INGLEWOOD 
. Construction management and inspection services for the Manchester Boulevard 

Corridor Roadway Improvement project which runs from Ash Street to Van Ness 
Avenue, approximately 2.9 miles. The section from Ash Street to Crenshaw 

 

 

EDUCATION: 
University of Karachi, Pakistan,   
   B.E., Civil Engineering 
University of California, 

Berkeley, 
   M.S., Sanitary Engineering, 
 

REGISTRATION: 
Registered Civil Engineer, 

California, No. 23712 
 

MEMBER: 
American Academy of 

Environmental Engineers, 
Diplomate 

American Public Works 
Association 

American Society of Civil 
Engineers 

American Water Works 
Association 

California Water Environment  
   Association 
Southern California Water 

Utilities 
   Association 
Water Environment Federation 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE   Page 3 of 6 
 

Boulevard was ARRA funded and the section from Crenshaw Boulevard to Van Ness Avenue was 
Redevelopment Agency funded. The project encompassed 1,080,000 square feet of 0" to 2" grinding and 
28,000 tons of asphalt rubber hot mix (ARHM) for the overlay. 

 
CITY OF IRWINDALE 

.   Construction Manager for the 2020-2021 Resurfacing Project, from Avenida Barbosa and Buena Vista Street 
from Avenida Barbosa to the City Limits. 

 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
.     Selected to provide On-Call Construction Management and Inspection Services in support of permitted activities 

in the road and flood rights of way or Department administered road, bridge, traffic signal, flood control, sewer, 
and water construction projects located throughout Los Angeles County.  

 
CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH 
 Project manager for inspection services for rehabilitation of approximately 20,600 ft. of pavement. The work 

consisted of cold milling existing pavement, and overlay with rubberized asphalt, AC paving, traffic striping and 
markings, and traffic loop replacement. In addition, the project involved concrete repair, which including sixty 
ADA access ramp installations within the Liberty Village and twenty-one along Marine Avenue, curb repairs, 
sidewalk and cross gutter replacements. 

 
CITY OF NORWALK 
. Inspection of FY 2015/16 Sewer System Rehabilitation Project 
. Construction Inspection Services for the Civic Center Drive Rehabilitation Project from Norwalk Boulevard to 

East of Bloomfield Avenue 
. Construction Inspection for Local Streets Rehabilitation 
 
CITY OF POMONA 
.     Provided Project/Construction Management Services for Federal Streets Rehabilitation (Districts 2 & 3), Street 

Improvements Citywide (CDBG) (FY 15-16 to FY 17-18), and Sidewalks – Penmar Lane (CDBG) and ADA Path 
of Travel (CDBG) (FY 14-15 to FY 16-17) Improvements. This project was administered in accordance with 
Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual (LAPM), Local Assistance Program Guidelines (LAPG) and 
Federal Highway Administration’s (FHWA) requirements. A successful audit was conducted by Caltrans. 

 
CITY OF SAN MARINO 
 Project Manager for inspection services for various street segments throughout the City. The work included 

slurry seal, cold milling asphalt concrete pavement and re-paving with asphalt rubber hot mix; replacing failed 
aggregate base; replacing all pavement delineation (striping, markings and legends, adjusting utility frames 
and grates); and providing traffic control. 

 
CITY OF WHITTIER 
.     Provided Construction Management and Inspection Services for Palm Avenue and Scenic Drive, north of 

Beverly Drive, which has had a high number of main breaks and repairs over the years. This area is serviced 
by a 4-inch cast iron water main constructed in 1929. Due to a network of patches from previous main breaks, 
the street is in disrepair.  As a part of the water main project, the entire 24-foot wide section of Palm Avenue 
and Scenic Drive will be replaced. In order to prevent excavation of a newly reconstructed street, the project 
also includes replacement of the existing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE   Page 4 of 6 
 

CRAIG JENTS 
Construction Inspector 
 
OVERVIEW: 

Mr. Jents retired from the City of Anaheim after 35 years as a Senior Construction Inspector. He 
worked as Senior Construction Inspector performing various street improvement projects including 
raised medians, landscaped medians, street resurfacing, sewer/water projects, street widening, 
and traffic signal modifications.  
 
PROJECT EXPERIENCE 
CITY OF ANAHEIM 
. Lincoln & State College intersection widening and signal modification.  Installing new poles, 

conduits and rewiring intersection. 
 
CITY OF BREA 
. $3.5 million Street Improvement Project – Constructed sewer and storm drain areas.  Installed 

new access ramps, C&G, sidewalks, cross gutters and spandrels.  
 
CITY OF BURBANK 
. Installing new poles, conduits, signal heads, pedestrian heads and rewiring intersections (two 

projects:  1) safe route to school; and 2) 1-5/SR-134 congestion management project. 
 
CITY OF FONTANA 
. Provided as-needed construction inspection services for the City.  Projects include Traffic 

Improvement at Randall Ave. & Juniper Ave., Fontana Ave. & Arrow Blvd., and Juniper Ave. 
& Ceres Ave.  Another project is inspection of permits.  

 
CITY OF GLENDALE 
. $4.25 million Street Improvement Project.  Approximately 1500’ of 12” VCP and 500’ of 15” 

VCP.  Cold in place grind and rehab entire project.  Placed rubberized asphalt over cold in 
place, approximately 6300 tons.  Constructed 60+ access ramps, along with bus pads, curb 
& gutter and sidewalk areas.  This project was on Glendale Ave. from Broadway to San 
Fernando 

 
CITY OF GLENDORA 
 Provided inspection services for street improvements on Lone Hill Ave. from Gladstone St. 

north to the San Dimas Wash, just south of the I-210 Freeway.  Lone Hill Ave. is a very busy 
street, near shopping areas and the Glendora Auto Center. The work included asphalt overlay, 
construction staging at heavily traveled intersection. Due to heavy traffic, some work was 
conducted at night. 

 
CITY OF SAN MARINO 

Provided inspection services for various street segments throughout the City. The work 
included slurry seal, cold milling asphalt concrete pavement and re-paving with asphalt rubber 
hot mix; replacing failed aggregate base; replacing all pavement delineation (striping, markings 
and legends, adjusting utility frames and grates); and providing traffic control. 
 

CITY OF STANTON 
Provided inspection services for FY 20/21 Citywide Street Resurfacing Project. The City cover 
over 3.1 sq. miles of residential, commercial, and industrial areas.  The Project aimed to 
perform several streets improvements and maintenance projects to preserve and improve the 
integrity of City infrastructure.  The work included attending the Kick-Off Meeting; reviewing 
and approving submittals, updating construction schedule; maintaining a daily log of 
construction project activity; progress reports; insuring that all applicable utility rules, codes, 
and safety regulations were followed.  Conducted daily measurements of quantities of work 
 with the Contractor; assisted with the review and evaluation of change order work; and 
assisted in preparing punch lists of uncompleted work non-conformance reports, and 
deficiency notices. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EDUCATION: 
Courses and 
Seminars 
related to Public 
Works 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE   Page 5 of 6 
 

MARK LUERA 
Construction Inspector 
 
OVERVIEW: 
Mr. Luera has over 25 years of construction experience for public works projects. He is 
thoroughly familiar with City, county and municipality regulations, codes and process. 
Mr. Luera has been commended for his positive relationship with constituents. 
 
PROJECT EXPERIENCE 
CITY OF IRWINDALE 
.     Provided  construction  inspection  for  the 2020-2021  Resurfacing  Project,  from 
      Avenida Barbosa and Buena Vista Street from Avenida Barbosa to the City Limits. 
. 
LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
Provided inspection for various road projects for LA County including: 
· Lotus Avenue Pavement Preservation 
· Otterbein Avenue Concrete Phases I & II 
· Otterbein Pavement Preservaopm 
· West Puente Valley Phase 2 Concrete Restoration 
· West Puente Valley Fairgrove Avenue Pavement Restoration 
· Private Storm DrainLine 472 Reconstruction 
· Pellissier Village Concrete Restoration 
· La Seda Pavement Slurry/Scrub 
· Workman Mill Road 
· Permit Office No 4 – Inspection of various projects including water, sewer, sidewalk, 

gas, curb and gutter, driveway approaches, storm drain, and film permits. Also, 
power pole changeouts and all types of various encroachment permits on a daily 
basis 

 
CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH 
.      Liberty Village Neighborhood and Marine Avenue Pavement Rehabilitation. Provided 

inspection services for rehabilitation of approximately 20,600 ft. of pavement. The 
work consisted of cold milling existing pavement, and overlay with rubberized 
asphalt, AC paving, traffic striping and markings, and traffic loop replacement. In 
addition, the project involved concrete repair, which including sixty ADA access ramp 
installations within the Liberty Village and twenty-one along Marine Avenue, curb 
repairs, sidewalk and cross gutter replacements. 

 
ORANGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS 
. Ocean View Channel Rehabilitation - Provided construction Inspection Services which 

included crack seal work in the channel. 
 
. Cowan Heights PCC and AC Remedial Repair Project – Provided Construction Inspection 

Services for road maintenance project performed under OC Construction’s Job Order 
Contract, including grinding operations, placement of base materials, asphalt concrete 
placement and fabrication of structural steel, erection of falsework and forms and 
placement of concrete.  
 

 
 

EDUCATION: 
Citrus College 
Public Works Plan 
Interpretation & 
Estimating: 
A course in developing 
the ability to interpret 
plans and estimate 
time, material, labor 
and equipment 
needed for public 
works projects 

 

 
 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION III:  STAFF EXPERIENCE   Page 6 of 6 
 

HUGO MAGANA 
AutoCAD Designer 
 
Mr. Magaña is a Designer/Draftsman. He is involved in a variety of street, sewer, and water 
projects, providing technical and CAD assistance to our team. Mr. Magaña  His expertise is in 
GIS software and AutoCAD. 
 
PROJECT EXPERIENCE 
 
CITY OF ALHAMBRA 
. Main Street Sewer Replacement – CAD plans for the Replacement of 

approximately 1,858 LF of an existing 8-inch sewer main with a 12-inch sewer 
main on Main Street, between Bushnell Avenue and Atlantic Boulevard. The 
existing 8” sewer main is located on the westbound lanes of Main Street. The 
City’s Sewer System Rehabilitation Plan identified this location as the highest 
priority for improvements due to its aging conditions and to improve sewage flow 
capacity in the area. 

 
CITY OF CHINO 
. Prepared plans & specifications for the Quadrant I Water Main Replacement 

Project which consists of 10,940 ft. of 8” PVC pipe to improve the existing water 
system.  In addition, the project consists of the replacement of the replacement 
or reconnection of existing service laterals and reconnections to the existing 
water mains. 

 
CITY OF HUNTINGTON BEACH 
. Water Valve Replacement – Prepared CAD plans for design of  water valves 

replacement in approximately 50 separate locations throughout the City’s water 
system. Over 50% of those locations are expected to be closer to the coast, in area 
of low elevations where groundwater may be encountered and the other 50% will be 
located inland.   

 
CITY OF INGLEWOOD 
. Prepared plans for Sewer Main Replacement Project, Phase I, to upgrade/repair 

or replace segments of the existing 8” to 15” vitrified clay pipe (VCP) throughout 
the City to improve the existing sewer system. In addition, the project consisted 
of the replacement or reconnection of existing sewer laterals within the project 
area as a result of the replacement of the existing VCP. The Project also involved 
reconnections  to existing sewer mains, two of which are owned by Sanitation 
Districts of Los Angeles County (LACSD). The total approximate length of pipe 
replaced was 5,352 feet 

 
CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH 
. Plans and specifications for various sewer reaches throughout the City. 
 
CITY OF MONTEREY PARK 
. Sewer Spot Repairs and CIPP Installation - plans and specifications for 91 spot 

repairs and 9,730 ft. of CIPP installation in various locations throughout the City.  
The project involved review of CCTV videos to verify the work involved. 

 
CITY OF ONTARIO 
. Water Main Replacement - Plans & specifications approximately 25,430 LF of 

water mains at 30 various locations. The improvements will replace existing water 
mains of diameters ranging from 2” to 12” to proposed 8” and 12” sizes. In 
addition, at one of the locations, OMUC desires to install 450 LF of new 8” water 
main. The improvements will include replacement of service laterals, fire hydrants 
and other related appurtenances. 

 
 
 
 
EDUCATION: 
California State University 
   B.S. Mechanical 
Engineering 
Rio Honda College 
   College of Engineering 
and Technology 
California State University,  
   Fullerton, College of 
Engineering 
   and Technology 
  
 
AFFILIATIONS: 
- Engineers for a 

Sustainable World, Cal 
State Long Beach 

- Center for Academic 
Support in Engineering 
and Computer Science, 
Cal State Fullerton 

- Society of Mexican 
American Engineers and 
Scientists, Cal State 
Fullerton and Cal State 
Long Beach 

 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION IV:  PROJECT UNDERSTANDING   Page 1 of 3 
 

SECTION IV:  PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
 
As your Construction Inspector, SA Associates will inspect pavement rehabilitation of the areas specified in the 
Project Location Map in the RFP. Our understanding is that they include: 
 
• Manhattan Beach Service Road from Rixford Avenue to Eastwood Avenue 
• Eastwood Avenue from Manhattan Beach Boulevard to North End 
• Sayler Avenue from Manhattan Beach Boulevard to North End 
• Osage Avenue from Manhattan Beach Boulevard to North End 
• Avis Avenue from Manhattan Beach Boulevard to North End 
• 167th Street from Hawthorne Boulevard to Freeman Avenue 
• 161st Street from Inglewood Avenue to Grevillea Avenue 
 
The scope of work consists of pavement improvements, pavement resurfacing, remove and replace sidewalk, curb 
ramps, curb and gutter, v-gutter, alley intersection, driveway approaches, remove trees, adjust manholes and utility 
covers, striping, signing, pavement markings, and other associate elements of work.  
 
The construction schedule is 90 calendar days and the Engineer’s Estimate is $1,150,000. 
 
KEY ISSUES/CONSTRAINTS/PROBLEMS TO BE ANTICIPATED DURING THE CONSTRUCTION 
 
From a Construction Management perspective, the Project is a manageable project that involves multiple facets, 
including private utility company coordination, public agency coordination, and City coordination. Since the Project 
affects private and public property access and water service, proper bypassing and traffic control will be imperative. 
Based on our site investigation, our review of the Plans, and our general understanding of similar projects, we 
understand the following to be key issues during construction: 

 
• Submittals 
 
 The submittal, review, and acceptance of the shop drawings is an important part of keeping the Project on 

schedule and ensuring a quality product that meets City standards. If the Contractor submits an "or equal" 
product, it is important to ensure that the proposed "or equal" manufacturer not only offers a product that is 
constructed of materials that can handle the Project requirements, but also is one with which City staff is familiar.  

 
 Based on our experience with several recent construction projects, we have the experience to ensure that the 

submittal and submittal review process is a streamlined process. Due to our recent CMI experience, we would 
like to suggest that the Contractor make only PDF submittals via email (we believe that this process is much 
more efficient). We would also like to encourage the Contractor to have all appurtenant items appear under the 
same overall submittal number as this saves time as opposed to too many itemized submittals. 

 
 We will develop and implement a submittal log that will identify all of the required project submittals as identified 

in the design specification. The dates of submission shall be determined and approved by all affected parties 
during the pre-construction meeting and the submittal review process and logs will be reviewed at each job 
progress meeting. SA Associates will ensure that the Contractor provides accurate and quality submittals that 
meet specifications and properly identify equipment. 

 
• Protection of Underground Utilities 
 
 The Project sites contain significant utility presence, which affects excavation, backfill, and pipe installation. 

The protection of existing utilities will be imperative in order to avoid costly delays. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION IV:  PROJECT UNDERSTANDING   Page 2 of 3 
 

• Safety of Public 
 
 There are safety concerns with this Project which could pose a threat to pedestrian safety. Ensuring safety and 

protection of underground utilities/facilities will be important to prevent serious accidents. It will also be important 
to provide proper barriers to keep public out of the work areas. We will ensure the Contractor has a safety 
program in place and responsibilities regarding safety and health during construction phase will be clearly 
allocated between involved parties. The inspector will monitor safety, including both general (OSHA, General 
Conditions) and any specific measures. 

 
• Traffic Control 
 
 For this Project, the Contractor is to submit Traffic Control Plans prepared, signed and sealed by a California 

Registered Traffic Engineer to the City. Proper traffic control will be required to ensure that the Project does not 
pose safety concerns to the commuters and the public. We will review and monitor all traffic control and detour 
plans submitted by the Contractor for compliance with the contract documents, for completeness, and for 
adequacy to accommodate traffic during each planned stage of construction. 

 
• Coordination with the City 
 
 To minimize customer complaints, it will be necessary to coordinate with the City and the Contractor to ensure 

that proper public notification is provided. Effective coordination will also help mitigate any short-term 
construction related impacts that may be associated with the Project. We will ensure proactive relations during 
construction, advisories, and periodic updates to keep all parties, including residents affected by construction 
works, well informed, and to minimize delays/interruptions to the Project. 

 
Based on the conclusions stated above and on the previous page, it is important that the CMI team understand the 
requirements of street rehabilitation and reflect well on the values of the City. With this in mind, SA Associates is 
committed to providing quality staff members who not only have the capability of satisfying the project tasks, but 
also have a track record of similar projects and working well with all impacted agencies and local residents. 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
 
We will be able to provide the services listed on Page 11 of your Request for Proposal and will not reiterate them 
here.  The following is an enhancement of the scope of work: 
 
1. Provide field observation during construction.  We will conduct detailed site observations of the general 

progress of the work to determine if the work is proceeding in accordance with the contract documents. 

2. Provide inspection of the contractor’s location, alignments, grades to ensure compliance with the project 
design. 

3. Maintain accurate records of construction quantities and materials, coordinate and schedule sampling and 
testing of construction materials, soil and AC compaction tests.  Arrange for batch plant inspections.  Retain 
tickets prior to placement of material, record up-to-date construction information to use in preparation of the 
record drawings. 

4. The Construction Inspector will attend pertinent meetings, ensure compliance with ADA requirements and the 
contract documents, and prepare daily reports.  Inspector will report to City any violations to any applicable 
regulations. Inspector will maintain a copy of the contract documents and construction-related documents at 
the site. 

5. The Construction Inspector will coordinate all construction activities with the utility companies and other 
agencies within the project area and as required by the City. 

6. Prepare construction inspection reports. The on-site observer will complete a daily report of events that occur 
at the jobsite.  SA Associates will implement a format for these reports which will include the following: 

a. Contractor’s working hours on the jobsite.  A separate log will be maintained if the contractor works two 
shifts or nights. 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION IV:  PROJECT UNDERSTANDING   Page 3 of 3 
 

b. Contractor and subcontractor personnel and equipment on the jobsite. 
c. Weather conditions and observations as to the effect on the progress of the work. 
d. Decisions or directions given to the contractor.  Items of this nature would be those of usual work progress 

with directions to be included in a more formal manner. 
e. Daily utilization of the contractor and subcontractor equipment on the site, but obviously idle or in 

temporary storage will be so noted on the report. 
f. Observations connected with the progress of the work including deficiencies or violations of contract 

requirements by the contractor. 
g. Materials delivered to the job site, together with indication as to results of inspection thereof. 
h. Observed or potential delays and apparent causes.  The contractor’s reaction to these delays will be noted. 
i. Data relative to claims, extras or deduction.  This should include those noted and agreed, as well as 

potential claims or items of disagreement. 
j. Lists of visitors, including testing laboratory representatives or others. 

7. The Inspector will review contract documents and interpret the drawings as necessary to answer the questions 
raised by the contractor.  The Inspector will determine if resolution can be developed by application of the 
plans, typical details, the specifications, and applicable codes and standards.  If the resolution cannot be 
determined from these or similar documents, the Inspector will consult with the City and ask for additional 
interpretations.  SA Associates will coordinate through the City, the development of a revised design so that it 
is compatible with field conditions or status of the work, with the goal of minimizing or mitigating the impact on 
the contractor’s work. 

8. Review and monitor all traffic control and public safety plans for compliance with all safety laws and regulations.  
Review all detour, lane closures, temporary access, signing, delineation and traffic control plans.  Inspector 
will enforce traffic control safety requirements, in and around construction zones. Review and monitor the 
contractor’s safety program.  The inspector will enforce on-site safety requirements and will report to City on 
any observed deviations from the plan. 

9. Provide video tape and photographic documentation of project site prior to, during, and after construction.  
Ensure that any survey markers disturbed by Contractor are restored by Contractor. 

10. Maintain a set of contract documents with up-to-date information regarding all addenda, substitutions, 
clarifications and changes. 

11. Coordinate any certified technical inspections, field testing, or laboratory testing required for a project.  Ensure 
that Contractor has notified utilities affected by the project. 

12. Provide punch list of work to be completed at the end of the project and perform inspections of uncompleted 
items to determine substantial completion 

13. The Construction Inspector will maintain a copy of the plans on the site with all the changes.  Upon completion 
of construction, SA Associates will conduct an As-Built verification, prepare and provide a copy of As-Built 
plans to the City. 

14. Review the Contractor’s “Best Management Practices” plan prior to beginning of construction. Monitor the 
Contractor’s implementation to prevent storm water pollution from related activities in compliance with the 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). 

15. Review of Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) as required by the City. 

16. Assist in maintaining a good relationship with the public. The Inspector will immediately report to the City any 
inconvenience to the public and will try to remedy arising problems as soon as possible, subsequent to his/her 
discussion with the City. 

After completion of the project, turn over all documents and photos to the City in hardcopy 

 
 



ID Task Name Duration Start

1 Inspection Services 90 days Mon 8/2/21
2 Pre-Construction Services 10 days Mon 8/2/21
3 Kick-off Meeting 1 day Mon 8/2/21
4 Constructability Review 4 days Tue 8/3/21
5 Review Bid Documents & Pertinent Information 4 days Tue 8/3/21
6 Review Traffic Control Plans 4 days Tue 8/3/21
7 Determine Permits/Outside Agency Requirements 1 wk Mon 8/9/21
8 Review Pre-Construction Submittals 1 wk Mon 8/9/21
9 Coordinate Soil Sampling & Compaction Testing 2 days Mon 8/9/21

10 Utilities Investigation 4 days Tue 8/3/21
11 Job-Walk/Verify Site Conditions (Photos/Video) 1 day Mon 8/9/21
12 Construction Phase Services 65 days Tue 8/10/21
13 Pre-Construction Meeting 1 day Mon 8/16/21
14 Progress Meetings 1 day Tue 8/10/21
21 Construction Administration 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
22 Coordination & Communications Procedures 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
23 Ensure Coordination with Utility Companies & Affected Agencies 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
24 Record Management & Document Control 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
25 Field Observation 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
26 Construction Inspection Reports 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
27 Review Contract Documents 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
28 Review Contractor's Schedule of Values 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
29 Administer, Review, & Track RFI's/RFC's/Shop Dwgs. 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
30 Review Contractor's Schedule of Compliance w/ Contract Docs 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
31 Review Contract Change Orders (CCO's) 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
32 Assist City with Contractor Disputes 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
33 Labor Compliance 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
34 Prepare Weekly Statement of Working Days 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
35 Provide Videotape and Photographic Documentation 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
36 Ensure Protection of Survey Markers 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
37 Review Contractor's Invoices 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
38 Coordinate Testing/Inspection 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
39 Review/Monitor Contractor's Safety Program 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
40 Review/Monitor Traffic Control/Public Safety Plans 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
41 Review Contractor's BMPs/Ensure NPDES Compliance 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
42 Review SWPPP 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
43 As-Built Verification 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
44 Assist City with Public Relations 12 wks Tue 8/17/21
45 Post Construction Services 19 days Tue 11/9/21
46 Prepare As-Built Plans 2 wks Tue 11/9/21
47 Perform Final Inspections of Work/Prepare Punchlist 1 wk Tue 11/9/21
48 Obtain Lien Waivers, Bonds, Warranties, etc. 1 wk Tue 11/16/21
49 Prepare Final Certificate of Substantial Completion 1 wk Tue 11/23/21
50 Transfer Final Documents to City 0.8 wks Tue 11/30/21

Inspection Services 90 daysInspection Services 90 days
Pre-Construction Services 10 days

Kick-off Meeting Aug 2
Constructability Review 4 days

Review Bid Documents & Pertinent Information 4 days
Review Traffic Control Plans 4 days

Determine Permits/Outside Agency Requirements 1 wk
Review Pre-Construction Submittals 1 wk

Coordinate Soil Sampling & Compaction Testing 2 days
Utilities Investigation 4 days

Job-Walk/Verify Site Conditions (Photos/Video)
Construction Phase Services 65 days

Pre-Construction Meeting Aug 16
Progress Meetings

Construction Administration 12 weeks (60 working days)
Coordination & Communications Procedures

Ensure Coordination with Utility Companies & Affected Agencies
Record Management & Document Control

Field Observation
Construction Inspection Reports

Review Contract Documents
Review Contractor's Schedule of Values

Administer, Review, & Track RFI's/RFC's/Shop Dwgs.
Review Contractor's Schedule of Compliance w/ Contract Docs

Review Contract Change Orders (CCO's)
Assist City with Contractor Disputes

Labor Compliance
Prepare Weekly Statement of Working Days

Provide Videotape and Photographic Documentation
Ensure Protection of Survey Markers

Review Contractor's Invoices
Coordinate Testing/Inspection

Review/Monitor Contractor's Safety Program
Review/Monitor Traffic Control/Public Safety Plans

Review Contractor's BMPs/Ensure NPDES Compliance
Review SWPPP

As-Built Verification
Assist City with Public Relations

Post Construction Services 19 days
Prepare As-Built Plans

Perform Final Inspections of Work/Prepare Punchlist
Obtain Lien Waivers, Bonds, Warranties, etc.
Prepare Final Certificate of Substantial Completion

Transfer Final Documents to City Dec 3

31 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 24 27 30 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 24 27 30 2 5 8 11 14 17 20 23 26 29 1 4 7 10 13 16 19 22 25 28 1 4 7 10 13 16 19 22 25 28 31 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 24 27 30 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 24 27 30
June 2021 July 2021 August 2021 September 2021 October 2021 November 2021 December 2021 J

City of Lawndale
Construction Inspection Services for

FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project
Project Schedule

Lawndale CIS Street Improv Schedule.mpp Tue 7/6/21 

SECTION V:  DETAILED SCHEDULE



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VI:  STATEMENT OF ACCEPTANCE OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS   Page 1 of 1 
 

SECTION VI:  STATEMENT OF ACCEPTANCE OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
 
SA Associates has reviewed the City’s standard consultant services agreement. We accept the terms and 
conditions, however, we do have comments on Item 5.2 as follows: 
 
5.0  INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION 
 

5.2       Indemnification. 
 

(a)  Indemnity for Design Professional Liability. When the law establishes a professional 
standard of care for Consultant's services, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and except for the statutory limits 
set forth under California Civil Code Section 2782,8 applicable to services provided by a “design professional”, 
Consultant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless City and the City's Parties from and against any and all losses, 
liabilities, damages, costs and expenses, including reimbursement of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs to the 
extent same are caused in whole or in part by any negligent or wrongful act, error or omission of Consultant, its 
officers, employees of subcontractors (or any entity or individual for which Consultant shall bear legal liability) in the 
performance of professional services under this Agreement. 

 
 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VII:  SAMPLE WEEKLY STATEMENTS AND INSPECTION REPORTS   Page 1 of 6 
 

SECTION VII: SAMPLES OF WEEKLY STATEMENT OF WORKING DAYS and 
INSPECTOR DAILY REPORTS 

 
 
WEEKLY STATEMENT OF WORKING DAYS SAMPLES: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VII:  SAMPLE WEEKLY STATEMENTS AND INSPECTION REPORTS   Page 2 of 6 
 

INSPECTOR DAILY REPORTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VII:  SAMPLE WEEKLY STATEMENTS AND INSPECTION REPORTS   Page 3 of 6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VII:  SAMPLE WEEKLY STATEMENTS AND INSPECTION REPORTS   Page 4 of 6 
 

 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VII:  SAMPLE WEEKLY STATEMENTS AND INSPECTION REPORTS   Page 5 of 6 
 

 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

SECTION VII:  SAMPLE WEEKLY STATEMENTS AND INSPECTION REPORTS   Page 6 of 6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
\ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SA Associates July 6, 2021

SECTION VIII:  ADDENDUM NO. 1



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates July 6, 2021



SA Associates
1130 W. Huntington Drive, Unit 12, Arcadia, CA 91007

X

Shahnawaz Ahmad July 6, 2021

X
Consulting Civil Engineer

SA Associates Shahnawaz Ahmad July 6, 2021



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1130 W. Huntington Drive, Unit 12 
Arcadia, CA 91007 
Tel 626.821.3456 
Fax 626.445.1461 

www.saassociates.net 
 



 
 

Construction Inspection Services for FY 2020/21 Annual Street Improvement Project 
 

 

  

 

FEE ESTIMATE   Page 1 of 1 
 

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
 

CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION SERVICES FOR 
FY2020/21 ANNUAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

 
FEE PROPOSAL 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Hourly Charge Rate and Expense Reimbursement Schedule 
 
 

Position Hourly Rates 
Project Coordinator $195.00 

Engineer $165.0 

AutoCAD Designer $102.00 
Construction Inspector $120.00 

Secretary         $  92.00 

Reimbursable In-House Costs 

Photo Copies $ 0.15/each 

Blueprints $ 0.50/S.F. 

Vehicle mileage, between engineer's office and project site and/or 
client offices, will be billed at 

$ 0.62/mile 

Other Reimbursables 

Reproduction, special photograph, printing, and any other services 
performed by subcontractor will be billed at 

cost + 15% 

Postage Delivery Service, Express Mail cost + 15% 
 
Note:  Rates effective to December 31, 2021 

Task Proj. Engr. Des. Insp. Sec. Total
Coord. Hours $

A. Pre-Construction Engineering Services 12 0 0 12 4 28 5,000

B. Construction Management/Inspection Services 36 0 8 520 18 582 73,000

  TOTAL 48 0 8 532 22 610 78,000



9


	21-08-02 reg.agn
	01. Approval of Final Tract Map No. 82706
	02. Lawndale Beat MOU
	03. Consideration of Claim Against the City
	04. Warrants
	05. 21-07-19 reg.min
	06. Adoption of Facility Use fee for Rec Class Instructors
	07. School crossing guard services agreement
	08. Award of Contract for Construction and Construction Inspection Services for the
	09. Council attendance

	Button1: 


